
1

Agenda
Contact Officer: Paul Bateman, Democratic Services Officer

Tel: 01235 422523

E-mail: paul.bateman@southandvale.gov.uk

Date: 14 May 2019

Website: www.southoxon.gov.uk

A MEETING OF THE

Planning Committee
WILL BE HELD ON WEDNESDAY 22 MAY 2019 AT 6.00 PM

DIDCOT CIVIC HALL, BRITWELL ROAD, DIDCOT, OX11 7JN

Members of the Committee:
To be confirmed at the annual meeting of Council on 16 May 2019.

Alternative formats of this publication are available on request.  These include 
large print, Braille, audio, email and easy read. For this or any other special 
requirements (such as access facilities) please contact the officer named on 
this agenda.  Please give as much notice as possible before the meeting.

MARGARET REED

Head of Legal and Democratic 

Public Document Pack



2

1 Chairman and Vice Chairman  

To note that Council is due to appoint the chairman and vice-chairman of the 
committee for the 2019/20 Municipal Year.  

2 Chairman's announcements  

To receive any announcements from the chairman and general housekeeping matters.

3 Apologies for absence  

To record apologies for absence and the attendance of substitute members.

4 Minutes of the previous meeting  (Pages 5 - 10)

To adopt and sign as a correct record the Planning Committee minutes of the meeting 
held on 24 April 2019.  

5 Declarations of interest  

To receive any declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests in respect of items on 
the agenda for this meeting.   

6 Urgent business  

To receive notification of any matters which the chairman determines should be 
considered as urgent business and the special circumstances which have made the 
matters urgent and to receive any notification of any applications deferred or 
withdrawn.

7 Proposals for site visits  

8 Public participation  

To receive any statements from members of the public that have registered to speak 
on planning applications which are being presented to this committee meeting.  



3

Development control applications

Planning applications - background papers and additional 
information

All the background papers with the exception of those papers marked 
exempt/confidential (eg those held in enforcement files) used in the reports in this 
agenda are held in the application file (working file) referenced by the application 
number. 

Any additional information received following the publication of this agenda will be 
reported and summarised at the meeting.

Summary index of applications

Site Address Proposal Application No Page

9 1a Cornmarket, 
Thame, Oxon, 
OX9 3DX  

Change of use of premises from 
retail (A1 use) to a 2-bedroom 
dwelling (C3 use) incorporating 
external alterations.

P18/S4111/FUL & 
P18/S4112/LB

11 - 22

10 Wallingford 
Portcullis 
Social Club 
(28) & 29 & 
frontage of 
Goldsmiths 
Lane, 
Wallingford, 
OX10 0DU  

Demolition of all buildings at 
Portcullis Club and No29.  
Construction of fourteen apartments, 
with vehicular access and parking 
and associated works. Demolition of 
and re-construction of frontage wall 
to Masonic Centre.

P19/S0820/FUL 23 - 46

11 14 Ilges Lane, 
Cholsey, OX10 
9NX  

Reserved Matters application for 
appearance, landscaping (to include 
detailed plans showing the existing 
and proposed ground levels of the 
vehicular access and the site relative 
to a fixed datum point on adjoining 
land outside of the application site) 
and layout, for demolition of existing 
bungalow and erection of one pair of 
semi-detached dwellings and one 
detached dwelling with shared 
access on outline planning 
permission P16/S4236/O.

P19/S0614/RM 47 - 58



4

12 South Oxford 
Business 
Centre Lower 
Road, 
Garsington, 
OX44 9DP  

Conversion and alteration of vacant 
first floor office accommodation to 
create 3 x two bed flats and 1 x one 
bed flat with private external amenity 
space.

P18/S2231/FUL 59 - 78

13 Upper Farm 
Denton, OX44 
9JQ  

Demolition of two buildings, erection 
of a single residential dwelling, 
garage and associated works (as 
amended by drawing no.s PA01 A 
and PA02 A to site the dwelling 
further into the application site and 
reduce size of red line boundary 
received on 12 March 2019).

P18/S3750/FUL 79 - 98

14 Land at 
Woodcote 
Road, South 
Stoke, RG8 0JJ  

Reserved matters application (for the 
appearance, landscaping, layout, 
and scale) following Outline approval 
P17/S3206/O for a residential 
development of up to 5 dwellings, 
and associated works, including 
access.  In addition to discharge 
conditions 5- landscaping, 6- tree 
protection, 7- biodiversity mitigation 
and enhancement strategy, 11- 
construction traffic management, 13- 
refuse and recycling storage and 16- 
construction method statement.

P19/S0171/RM 99 - 
116



Minutes
OF A MEETING OF THE

Planning Committee

HELD ON WEDNESDAY 24 APRIL 2019 AT 6.00 PM

DIDCOT CIVIC HALL, BRITWELL ROAD, DIDCOT, OX11 7JN

Present:

Anthony Dearlove (Vice Chairman in the Chair).

Lorraine Hillier, Elaine Hornsby, Jeannette Matelot, David Nimmo-Smith, Ian Snowden, 
David Turner and Ian White. Sue Cooper (substituting for Mocky Khan).

Apologies:

Toby Newman, Joan Bland and Mocky Khan tendered apologies. 

Officers:

Samantha Allen, Paul Bateman, Victoria Clarke, Simon Kitson, Paul Lucas, Marc Pullen 
and Tom Wyatt.

Also present: 

David Dodds

236 Chairman's announcements 

The chairman welcomed everyone to the meeting, outlined the procedure to be followed 
and advised on emergency evacuation arrangements.

237 Minutes of the previous meeting 

RESOLVED: to approve the minutes of the meetings held on 28 March 2019 and 10 April 
2019 as a correct record and agree that the Chairman sign these as such.

238 Declarations of interest 

There were no declarations of interest.

239 Urgent business 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



There was no urgent business.

240 Proposals for site visits 

There were no proposals for site visits.

241 Public participation 

The list showing members of the public who had registered to speak was tabled at the 
meeting.

242 P18/S3531/FUL - Unit 3, Wenman Road, Thame 

Jeannette Matelot, a local ward councillor, stood down from the Committee for 
consideration of this item.

The committee considered application P18/S3531/FUL for Change of Use from B8 
(Storage and Distribution) to D2 (Indoor Sports and Leisure), incorporating internal and 
external alterations (car parking redesigned, cycle stands amended, disabled access ramp 
and delivery door added and internal layout altered, as shown on amended plans and 
additional information received 23rd November 2018 and gym timetable submitted 17th 
January 2019, and provision of ramped fire exits as shown on amended plans received 8th 
February 2019) at Unit 3, Wenman Road, Thame.

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report which formed part of the agenda pack for this meeting.

Councillor Mike Deacock spoke on behalf of Thame Town Council, objecting to the 
application.
 
Martin Shipperley, the applicant, spoke in support of the application.

Jeff Emmett, the applicant’s agent, spoke in support of the application.

Jeannette Matelot, a local ward councillor, spoke in support of the application.

A motion, moved and seconded, to approve the application was declared carried on being 
put to the vote.  

RESOLVED: to grant planning permission for application P18/S3531/FUL, subject to the 
following conditions:

1. Commence the development within three years.

2.  Development to be carried out in accordance with details shown on the following 
approved plans, PL-01, PL-06A, PL-07A, PL-03D, PL-02A, PL-05, PL-08A, and PL-04C, 
except as controlled or modified by conditions of this permission.

3. Prior to the first use, the external and internal alterations to the building shall be carried 
out in accordance with the approved plans and thereafter retained as approved. 

Page 6



4. Prior to the first use, the parking and turning areas shall be provided in accordance with 
the approved plan 1237/PL-07A and shall be constructed,  laid out, surfaced, drained and 
completed to be compliant with sustainable drainage (SuDS) principles, and shall be 
retained unobstructed except for the parking of staff or customer vehicles associated with 
the development at all times.

5. Cycle parking facilities shall be provided prior to the occupation of the development in 
accordance with the details shown on drawings 1237/PL-03D, 1237/PL-06A and 1237/PL-
07A. Thereafter, the cycle parking shall be retained as approved.

6. Prior to the first use a scheme for the landscaping of the site, including the planting of 
live trees and shrubs, the treatment of the access road and hard standings, and the 
provision of boundary treatment shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority. The scheme shall be implemented prior to the first use of development 
and thereafter be maintained in accordance with the approved scheme. In the event of any 
of the trees or shrubs so planted dying or being seriously damaged or destroyed within 5 
years of the completion of the development, a new tree or shrub or equivalent number of 
trees or shrubs, as the case may be, of a species first approved by the local planning 
authority, shall be planted and properly maintained in a position or positions first approved 
in writing by the local planning authority.

7. The hours of operation for the development shall be restricted top 6 am to 10 pm on all 
days.

243 P18/S2735/LB - Various Listed Buildings, Thame Town Centre, 
Thame 

Jeannette Matelot, a local ward councillor, stood down from the Committee for 
consideration of this item.

The committee considered application P18/S2735/LB for the production and installation of 
commemorative plaques denoting the use of 6 listed buildings in Thame as filming 
locations for the Midsomer Murders series, at various listed buildings, Thame Town 
Centre. 

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report which formed part of the agenda pack for this meeting.

Tony Long, a representative of Thame Town Council spoke in support of the application.
 
Helen Johns, the agent, spoke in support of the application.

David Dodds, a local ward councillor, spoke in support of the application.

A motion, moved and seconded, to refuse listed building consent was declared carried on 
being put to the vote.

RESOLVED: that Listed Building Consent be refused for application P18/S2735/LB for the 
following reasons:

The proposed plaques would result in harm to the historic and architectural interests of the 
individual listed buildings, by identifying the importance of the building as belonging to a 

Page 7



fictional person or place. There would be a cumulative impact to the group of listed 
buildings and their contribution to the historic and architectural interests of the Thame 
Conservation Area. The application would result in less than substantial harm to the 
designated heritage assets which is not outweighed by public benefit as judged by the 
National Planning Policy Framework. As such, the proposal would be contrary to Policy 
CSEN3 of the South Oxfordshire Core Strategy, saved Policies CON3, CON5 and CON7 
of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan and the provisions of the National Planning Policy 
Framework.

244 P18/S1830/FUL - Croxford's Orchard, Sydenham Road, Sydenham, 
OX39 4NE 

Ian White, a local ward councillor, stood down from the committee for consideration of this 
item.

The committee considered application P18/S1830/FUL for the construction of a new barn 
(as amended by plans received 4 September 2018, re-siting the barn a metre to the south, 
reducing its length by two metres, reducing its height and altering the design and materials 
to a feather edged boarding over a brick plinth wall and plain clay roof tiles) at Croxford's 
Orchard, Sydenham Road, Sydenham.

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report which formed part of the agenda pack for this meeting.

Michael May, a representative of Sydenham Parish Council, spoke objecting to the 
application.

Jane Errington, a local resident, spoke objecting to the application.

Philip House, the applicant, spoke in support of the application.

Ian White, a local ward councillor addressed the committee on the application.

A motion, moved and seconded, to grant planning permission was declared carried on 
being put to the vote.

RESOLVED: to grant planning permission for application P18/1830/FUL
subject to the following conditions:

1.  Commence the development within three years
2.  Development in accordance with the approved plans
3.  Materials as on plan
4.  Tree and hedge protection
5.  Use of the building restricted to agricultural use in connection with the land
6.  Demolish existing two sheds within two months of the first use of the 
     permitted building

245 P18/S4320/FUL - 170 Greys Road, Henley-on-Thames, RG9 1QR 

Lorraine Hillier, a local ward councillor, stood down from the committee for consideration of 
this item.

Page 8



The committee considered application P18/S4320/FUL for a proposed new dwelling (as 
amended by revised plans received 22nd February 2019, reducing the depth of the 
proposed front gable, reducing the number of bedrooms and amending the parking areas) 
at 170 Greys Road, Henley-on-Thames.

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report which formed part of the agenda pack for this meeting.

Ken Arlett, a representative of Henley-on-Thames Town Council, spoke objecting to the 
application.

Lorraine Hillier, a local ward councillor, spoke, objecting to the application.

A motion, moved and seconded, to grant planning permission was declared carried on 
being put to the vote. 

RESOLVED: to grant planning permission for application P18/S4320/FUL
subject to the following conditions:

1.  Commencement within three years - Full Planning Permission

2. Development to be implemented in accordance with the approved plans, 
     unless varied by other conditions of consent. 

3.  A schedule of all external materials shall be submitted to the local planning   authority 
for approval prior to commencement of the scheme. 

4.  Details of landscaping measures (including hard surfacing and boundary 
treatment) shall be submitted and agreed by the local planning authority prior to 
commencement of the development and implemented prior to first  

     occupation. 

5. Tree protection measures to be agreed prior to commencement and retained throughout 
the course of the development.

6. Obscure glazing to be applied to the first floor side and first floor rear    bathroom 
windows prior to first occupation of the dwelling. The windows  shall be fixed shut where 
below 1.7m from the finished floor level in each associated room. 

7. Removal of Permitted Development rights for subsequent extensions, in the 
    interests of visual and neighbouring amenity.

8. Prior to first occupation of the dwelling, parking and manoeuvring areas are to be 
provided as on plan and retained free from obstruction. 

9: No changes shall be made to the levels within the site, unless in accordance with a 
detailed scheme first agreed by the local planning authority.

246 P18/S4111/FUL & P18/S4112/LB - 1a Cornmarket, Thame, OX9 3DX 

Jeannette Matelot, a local ward councillor, stood down from the Committee for 
consideration of this item.

Page 9



The Committee considered applications P18/S4111/FUL and 18/S4112/LB for change of 
use of premises from retail (A1 use) to a 2-bedroom dwelling (C3 use) incorporating 
external alterations at 1a Cornmarket, Thame.

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report which formed part of the agenda pack for this meeting.

Councillor Mike Deacock spoke on behalf of Thame Town Council, objecting to the 
application.
 
Graeme Markland spoke on behalf of Thame Town Council, objecting to the application 

Jeff Lowe, the agent to the applicant, spoke in support of the application.

Jeannette Matelot, a local ward councillor, addressed the committee on the application.

The planning officer recommended that the applications be deferred to investigate an 
issue which had been raised by Thame Town Council, to allow officers to consider the 
weighting to be given to emerging SOLP 2034 Policy TC5 and the proposed changes to 
the primary shopping area shown in the associated proposals map. 

A motion, moved and seconded, to defer the application was declared carried on being put 
to the vote.

RESOLVED: to defer consideration of applications P18/S4111/FUL and P18/4112/LB to 
allow for further investigations by the Head of Planning relating to emerging SOLP 2034 
Policy TC5.

247 P19/S0095/FUL - Windrush Bridge Terrace, Thame, OX9 3LU 

This application was deferred due to the meeting’s time limit having been reached prior to 
its consideration. It will be considered at a later date, to be confirmed.

The meeting closed at 8.45 pm

Chairman Date

Page 10



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 May 2019

APPLICATION NO. P18/S4111/FUL & P18/S4112/LB
APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION & LISTED BUILDING 

CONSENT
REGISTERED 12.12.2018
PARISH THAME
WARD MEMBERS Pieter-Paul Barker, David Bretherton, and Kate 

Gregory
APPLICANT Vintage and Modern Guitars Ltd
SITE 1a Cornmarket, Thame, Oxon, OX9 3DX
PROPOSAL Change of use of premises from retail (A1 use) to a 

2-bedroom dwelling (C3 use) incorporating external 
alterations.

OFFICER Paul Lucas

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 Officers recommend that planning permission and listed building consent are granted. 

This report explains how officers have reached this conclusion. The application is 
referred to the planning committee due to the officers’ recommendation conflicting 
with Thame Town Council’s recommendation of refusal. These applications were 
deferred from the planning committee on 24 April 2019 to enable officers to consider 
the weight to be given to a relevant emerging local plan policy.

1.2 The application site is identified at Appendix A. It comprises a retail premises lying in 
Thame Town Centre, but outside the primary shopping frontage. It fronts onto a back 
street called The Shambles, located between the main retail thoroughfares of 
Cornmarket and Buttermarket. It lies close to other premises that front onto 
Cornmarket and Buttermarket, including The Bird Cage Inn at 4 Cornmarket. The 
premises is Grade II listed and resides within Thame Conservation Area. The other 
premises that have access to The Shambles comprise a mixture of uses, including 
flats at 19A & 19B & 20A Buttermarket, the rear of NatWest bank, the rear of a retail 
premises at 3 Pump Lane and the rear of The Bird Cage Inn.

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 The applications seek full planning permission for change of use from retail to 

residential and listed building consent for works to facilitate the conversion of the 
premises, as shown on the plans and other documents submitted with the applications. 

2.2 The applications follow on from a previous set of applications for the same change of 
use and works that were refused in 2018, as discussed in Section 4.0 below. The 
current application plans are shown at Appendix B. Other supporting documents can 
be found on the Council’s website.

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
3.1

3.2

3.3
3.4

Thame Town Council - Objects
1. Loss of retail space
2. Poor residential amenity for future occupiers – the location is inappropriate for a
residential dwelling
Environmental Protection Team – No objection subject to implementation of 
recommended mitigation condition
Conservation Officer – No objection subject to listed building detail conditions
Thame Conservation Area Advisory Committee - No strong views

Page 11

Agenda Item 9

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P18/S4111/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&REF=P18/S4111/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 May 2019

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1

4.2

P18/S1908/FUL - Refused (17/08/2018)
Proposed internal and external alterations. Conversion to single dwelling.
In the absence of an acoustic report and recommended mitigation, the proposed 
development would lack sufficient information to demonstrate that the residential 
amenity of future occupiers could be adequately protected from external noise 
nuisance. As such, the proposal would be contrary to Policies G2, EP2 and H4 of the 
South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011.

P18/S1909/LB - Refused (17/08/2018)
Proposed internal and external alterations. Conversion to single dwelling.
In the absence of an acoustic report and recommended mitigation, the proposed 
development would lack sufficient information to demonstrate that the residential 
amenity of future occupiers could be adequately protected from external noise nuisance 
without the need for works that would result in a loss of significance to this Grade II 
listed building. As such, the proposal would be contrary to Policy CSEN3 of the South 
Oxfordshire Core Strategy, Policies CON3 and CON4 of the South Oxfordshire Local 
Plan 2011 and advice contained within Paragraphs 193 and 194 of the NPPF.

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) Policies

CS1 -  Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSEM1 -  Supporting a successful economy
CSEM4 -  Supporting economic development
CSEN3 -  Historic environment
CSQ3 -  Design
CSS1 -  The Overall Strategy
CST1 -  Town centres and shopping
CSTHA1 -  The Strategy for Thame

5.2 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 (SOLP 2011) policies;
CF3 -  Retention of shops
CON3 -  Alteration to listed building
CON4  -  Change of use of listed buildings
CON5  -  Setting of listed building
CON7  -  Proposals in a conservation area
D1 -  Principles of good design
D10  -  Waste Management
D2  -  Safe and secure parking for vehicles and cycles
D3  -  Outdoor amenity area
D4  -  Reasonable level of privacy for occupiers
G2 -  Protect district from adverse development
E6 -  Loss of employment uses
EP2 -  Adverse affect by noise or vibration
TC8 -  Change of use between shop to non-shop use

5.3 Thame Neighbourhood Plan policies;
H5 Integrate windfall sites
WS2 Retain and enhance primary and secondary retail frontages
WS7 Retain small scale employment in the town centre
WS12 Retain existing employment land in employment use
WS13 Support improvements to existing employment areas
ESDQ15 Developers must demonstrate in a Design and Access Statement how their 
proposed development reinforces Thame’s character
ESDQ16 Development must relate well to its site and its surroundings

Page 12

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P18/S1908/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P18/S1909/LB


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 May 2019

ESDQ19 The Design and Access Statement and accompanying drawings must provide 
sufficient detail for proposals to be properly understood
ESDQ20 Building style must be appropriate to the historic context
ESDQ27 Design in the ‘forgotten’ elements from the start of the design process
ESDQ28 Provide good quality private outdoor space
ESDQ29 Design car parking so that it fits in with the character of the proposed 
development
D1 Provide appropriate new facilities

5.4

5.5

Emerging South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2034 (SOLP 2034) Policies:
Policy TC5 – Primary Shopping Areas

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

5.6

National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)
The policies within the SOCS and the SOLP 2011 and TNP of relevance to this 
application are in general conformity with the provisions of the NPPF and NPPG and 
therefore this application can be determined against these relevant policies.

The adopted primary shopping frontage map and emerging primary shopping area 
maps for Thame can both be found at Appendix C

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 The main issues to be considered for the planning application are as follows:-

 Whether the principle of the proposed change of use is acceptable
 The impact upon the character and appearance of the site or the wider 

conservation area
 The impact upon neighbouring amenity 
 Whether the proposal would be prejudicial to highway safety

6.2 The issue relevant to the listed building consent application is whether:
The works would have an adverse impact upon the special architectural and historic 
interest of the Grade II listed building or its setting.

6.3 Principle of Development
Policy WS2 of the TNP restricts changes of use of shops (Class A1) to non-retail uses 
within the Primary Retail Frontage (PSF). Policy WS2 states that
“In order to maintain the shopping function of the primary retail frontages the 
introduction of new non-retail uses such as banks and building societies, cafes, 
restaurants and the like (Classes A2, A3, A4 and A5) will be restricted at ground floor 
level to a maximum of 35% of the sum total of the length of primary retail frontages, as 
defined in figure 8.1”
Figure 8.1 within the TNP shows the primary retail frontage area highlighted in blue. 
This map within the TNP is small and a larger version of the primary retail frontages can 
be found within South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) Adopted Policies Map for 
Thame also highlighted in blue. Policy TC8 of the SOLP 2011 states that
“Within the primary shopping frontages in each town centre shown on the Proposals 
Map, the change of use of a shop (Class A1) to a non-shop use will not be permitted if it 
would undermine the vitality and viability, and the dominant retailing character and 
function, of the primary shopping frontages in each centre.”
However, the proposals map shows that the site lies outside the primary shopping 
frontage, as confirmed by the Council’s Economic Development Team and therefore 
the provisions of the TNP Policy WS2 and the SOLP 2011 Policy TC8 do not apply to 
this site.

Page 13



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 May 2019

6.4 Following the NPPF the proposals map for the emerging SOLP 2034 identifies the 
boundaries of primary shopping areas rather than frontages and the primary shopping 
area for Thame includes the application site. This means that the provisions of 
emerging SOLP 2034 Policy TC5 would apply to the site:
“Where planning permission is required, proposals resulting in the loss of retail uses at 
ground floor must demonstrate that:
• the unit has been proactively and appropriately marketed for at least 12 months and it 
has been demonstrated that there is no longer a realistic prospect of the unit being 
used for retail purposes in the foreseeable future.
• the proposal meets the needs of residents within the local neighbourhood
• the proposal will not have an adverse impact on the vitality and viability of the centre 
as a whole”
It is clear that the application proposal would conflict with the first bullet point of this 
emerging policy.

6.5 The Council’s Planning Policy Team have advised that the weight to be given to 
emerging local plan policies is limited at this stage prior to examination. The lack of 
representations objecting to Policy TC5 in respect of the Thame primary shopping area 
has to be balanced against the clear intention from the applicant to attempt to challenge 
the inclusion of this property and officers are unlikely to know the outcome of this and 
whether or not the emerging primary shopping area might be subject to change for 
some time.

6.6 Officers understand Thame Town Council’s view that the premises could be attractive 
to another retailer, which would help to maintain vitality and viability in the town centre. 
On balance, in the absence of any conflict with any currently adopted Development 
Plan policy, which still carry more significant weight, officers are unable to justify refusal 
of planning permission on the grounds of the emerging SOLP 2034 Policy TC5 alone. 
The principle of change of use of the premises at this juncture is therefore considered 
to be acceptable. 

6.7 Visual Impact
The proposal would involve limited external alterations to the building, such that the 
proposal would not result in harm to character or appearance of the site or the 
surrounding Thame Conservation Area in accordance with the SOCS Policy CSEN3 
and the SOLP 2011 Policy CON7.

6.8 Residential Amenity Impact
Criterion (iv) of Policy H4 of the SOLP 2011 requires that there are no overriding 
amenity objections. Policy D4 of the SOLP 2011 requires that all new dwellings should 
be designed and laid out to secure a reasonable degree of privacy for the occupiers. 
Policy EP2 seeks to ensure that existing and future residential occupiers are not 
harmed by noise nuisance. The lack of a garden area would be acceptable for future 
occupiers given the sustainable location and good access to public open space. There 
would be no physical impact upon adjoining residents and there would be unlikely to be 
any noise nuisance from the change of use of this unit, including the relationship with 
the adjoining courtyard garden to No.1. The Council’s Environmental Protection Officer 
is satisfied that the acoustic report submitted with the applications has demonstrated 
that the improvements to glazing would provide sufficient mitigation to protect the future 
occupiers from the impact of nearby external noise sources in the town centre. Whilst 
there are concerns about unsocial activities undermining the suitability of this location 
for residential occupation, it should be noted that there are already three residential 
units accessing The Shambles and it could be argued that additional residential 
occupation would provide a greater deterrent to such activities at night when the retail 
unit is unoccupied. On this basis, the proposal would accord with the above policies.

Page 14



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 May 2019

6.9 Listed Building Issues
Policy CSEN3 seeks to ensure that the historic significance of heritage assets is 
protected. Policies CON3 and CON4 of the SOLP 2011 state that alterations and 
changes of use to a listed building must respect its established character and not 
diminish its special historical or architectural interest. The Council’s Conservation 
Officer is satisfied that the submitted acoustic report has demonstrated that no further 
works would be required beyond the approved glazing to achieve the level of insulation 
to meet the EPO’s requirements. Although concerns remain about the breathability of 
the proposed thermal insulation, this is not required for soundproofing and therefore the 
Conservation Officer has agreed with the applicant that final details could be secured 
through a pre-commencement condition. As such, the proposal would prevent loss of 
significance to the listed building in compliance with the above policies.

6.10 Access and Parking
Criterion (iv) of Policy H4 of the SOLP 2011 requires that there are no overriding 
highway objections. Policy T1 of the SOLP 2011 seeks to ensure that all new 
development would provide a safe and convenient access for all users of the highway. 
The Highway Liaison Officer has previously commented that the parking requirement 
for a dwelling compared with the existing situation for the shop would not be increased. 
He also considered that the proposal would be unlikely to have a significant adverse 
impact on the highway network. Given the sustainable nature of the site in terms of 
walking, cycling and public transport and in its proximity to the town centre it is 
considered ideal for a “car free” development, furthermore given the parking controls 
within the vicinity this will limit indiscriminate/obstructive or unauthorised parking. As 
mentioned no sole person has the right to park a vehicle on the land in The Shambles. 
This would be considered a private legal matter and would not impact upon highway 
safety to warrant a recommendation for refusal on those grounds.

6.11 Community Infrastructure Levy
The proposal would not be CIL liable as there would be no additional floorspace and 
the floorspace to be converted is in active use.

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 The planning application would accord with Development Plan Policies, Supplementary 

Planning Guidance and Government Guidance, because, subject to the conditions 
below, it would be acceptable in principle, safeguard residential amenity, respect the 
architectural and historic interest and setting of the listed building and avoid conditions 
prejudicial to highway and pedestrian safety.

7.2 The listed building consent application would accord with Development Plan Policies, 
Supplementary Planning Guidance and Government Guidance; because it would 
respect the special architectural and historic interest of this listed building and its 
setting.

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 Grant Planning Permission

1 : Commencement 3 years - Full Planning Permission
2 : Development to be in accordance with the approved plans 
3 : Withdrawal of Permitted Development for Extensions & Rooflights
4 : Implementation of sound insulation glazing

Grant Listed Building Consent
1 : Commencement 3 years - Listed Building Consent
2 : Works to be in accordance with the approved plans 
3 : Works to match existing

Page 15



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 May 2019

4 : Submission of details for approval
a. Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans all thermal 
insulation
b. Any new flues and extracts

Author: Paul Lucas
Email:   planning@southoxon.gov.uk
Tel:       01235 422600

 

Page 16

mailto:planning@southoxon.gov.uk


Printed on 14/12/2018 11:46:20
   for BCP

This map is reproduced from Ordance Survey material with the
permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the Controller of Her
Majesty's Stationery Office Crown copyright. Unauthorised
reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to
prosecution or civil proceedings
South Oxfordshire District Council / 100018668 / 2018

Reference:P18/S4111/FUL
Page 17

Agenda Item 9

SAV_sharone
Typewriter
Appendix A



Appendix B

P
age 18



P
age 19



P
age 20



Appendix C

Page 21



Page 22



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 May 2019

APPLICATION NO. P19/S0820/FUL
APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION
REGISTERED 18.3.2019
PARISH WALLINGFORD
WARD MEMBER(S) George Levy

Sue Roberts

APPLICANT Winslade Investments (Wallingford)
SITE Wallingford Portcullis Social Club (28) & 29 & 

frontage of M Goldsmiths Lane Wallingford, 
OX10 0DU

PROPOSAL Demolition of all buildings at Portcullis Club and 
No29.  Construction of fourteen apartments, 
with vehicular access and parking and 
associated works. Demolition of and re-
construction of frontage wall to Masonic Centre.

OFFICER Sharon Crawford

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 The application has been referred to the Planning Committee at the discretion of the 

Planning Manager given the history of the site, the current appeal being held in 
abeyance.

1.2 The site lies in a prominent location fronting onto Goldsmith’s Lane and The Kine 
Croft between the Masonic Hall and the community centre. The Mint on the opposite 
side of Goldsmiths Lane is a terrace of residential properties and also a Grade II listed 
building. The site lies in the Wallingford Conservation area and is an area of 
archaeological interest. In addition, the Kine Croft is a Scheduled Monument. 

1.3 The buildings on the site have been vacant since 2015. Prior to that they were last 
used for the Portcullis Social Club but were originally part of the former Wallingford 
Brewery dating from the C18/C19. Much of the site is covered in buildings of differing 
ages. There is very little open space on the site other than a small courtyard.

1.4 The site is identified on the Ordnance Survey Extract attached at Appendix 1.

1.5 A scheme involving the conversion of the buildings worthy of retention for 14 
residential units was refused at planning committee on 18 June 2018 (ref 
P18/S0003/FUL). The application was refused for the following reason;

1. Having regard to the density of development and the location of the site, the 
proposal would represent an overdevelopment of the site that would increase 
pedestrian and vehicular activity and would be harmful to the safety and 
convenience of users of the public highway. As such the proposal would be 
contrary to Policy CSWAL1 of the South Oxfordshire Core Strategy and saved 
Policies G2, D2, H4, T1 and T2 of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011.

An appeal against the refusal of planning permission has been lodged with the 
Planning Inspectorate (PINS). This appeal is being held in abeyance pending the 

Page 23

Agenda Item 10

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P19/S0820/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 May 2019

result of the this planning application. If planning permission is refused, the appeal will 
be re-activated.

1.6 A scheme involving the conversion of the existing building on the site for 15 residential 
units was considered at planning committee on 26 July 2017 - ref P16/S4208/FUL 
(this application did not include 29 Goldsmiths Lane). The application was refused for 
the following reasons;

1. Having regard to the density of development and the location of the site 
(where vehicular and pedestrian access is limited by the access into the site 
and the limited width and lack of pavement on Goldsmiths Lane), the proposal 
would represent an overdevelopment of the site that would increase 
pedestrian and vehicular activity and would be harmful to the safety and 
convenience of users of the public highway. As such the proposal would be 
contrary to Policy CSWAL1 of the South Oxfordshire Core Strategy and saved 
Policies G2, D2, H4, T1 and T2 of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011.

2. The proposal would fail to provide affordable housing to meet the needs of the 
District contrary to Policy CSH3 of the South Oxfordshire Core Strategy and 
wider guidance contained within the National Planning Policy Framework.

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 The application seeks full planning permission for;

 Demolition of all buildings on the site save for the boundary wall to Kinecroft. 
 Demolition of No29 Goldsmiths Lane.
 Demolition of the frontage wall forming the access to the Masonic Hall.  
 Reconstruction of the frontage wall to the Masonic Hall- setback for better 

vision. (This has a separate planning permission P18/S0290/FUL)
 Construction of new buildings on the Portcullis site providing a total of 14 

dwellings, in a mix of one- and two-bedroom apartments; the buildings being 
across two- and three-storeys. 

 There will be 15 parking spaces on site. 
 Access to the site will be via Goldsmiths Lane via a newly created open 

vehicular access with side pavements for pedestrian access 
 No access is shown directly to Kinecroft notwithstanding retention of the gates 

in the boundary wall, these are to be blocked up internally.

2.2 Reduced copies of the plans and documents accompanying the application are 
attached at Appendix 2. Full copies of the plans and consultation responses are 
available for inspection on the Council’s website at www.southoxon.gov.uk.

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
Full responses can be found on the Council’s website

3.1 Wallingford 
Town Council 

Members of Wallingford Town Council's planning committee on 
Monday the 25th March following a vote resolved that they had no 
objections to this planning application.

3.2 OCC 
(Highways)

No objection subject to conditions and a S278 and S38 agreement

3.3 OCC 
(Archaeology)

No objection subject to conditions.

Page 24

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 May 2019

3.4 Historic 
England

Objection. Detailed comments summary only.
Historic England objects to the application on heritage grounds.
We consider that the application does not meet the requirements of 
the NPPF, in particular paragraph numbers 130, 184, 193, 194 and 
196. In determining this application, you should bear in mind the 
statutory duty of section 72(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to pay special attention to the 
desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance 
of conservation areas.

3.5 Conservation 
Officer

I cannot support this application. 
I do not consider that the demolition of the existing structures is well 
justified. Previous applications for development here have made 
provision for the retention of the historic buildings. The justification 
for their removal within this application rests on ‘making use of the 
floorspace effectively’ which a lower density would not do. However, 
in maintaining a high density the conclusion is that a car-free 
development wouldn’t be accepted and therefore the desire for on-
site car parking and vision splays have led to the conclusion that 
‘the older buildings cannot be retained’ as they form ‘too significant 
a constraint to development’.    

There have been no alternative solutions provided with this 
application that have attempted to explore possible compromises 
between the previous proposal and this one that would retain the 
historic buildings. 

I consider that the demolition of the existing buildings would result in 
the loss of an important group of non-designated heritage assets 
within the Wallingford Conservation Area. This would result in harm 
to the significance of the conservation area as a designated 
heritage asset and thus the application is contrary to Core Strategy 
Policy CSEN3 and Local Plan Policies CON6 and CON7 and 
Paragraphs 193, 196 and 197 of the NPPF. If you are minded to 
approve the application, you should be satisfied that the harm is 
justified and demonstrably outweighed by public benefits. 

In my opinion, the design of the development scheme would not 
enhance or better reveal the significance of the conservation area in 
line with paragraph 200 of the NPPF.

3.6 Countryside 
Officer

No objection subject to a condition.

3.7 Contaminated 
Land Officer

The garden soils are unsuitable for the proposed residential use 
and that remedial works are required. To ensure that all remedial 
works are undertaken satisfactorily I would recommend that any 
planning permission is subject condition. 

3.8 Air Quality 
Officer

No objection regarding adverse impacts on local air quality.

3.9 Waste 
Management 
Officer

No objection – standing advice re bins.

Page 25



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 May 2019

3.10 Crime 
Prevention 
Design Advisor

I do not wish to object to the proposals. However, I consider some 
aspects of the design and layout to be problematic in crime 
prevention design terms and therefore feel that the development 
may not meet the requirements of; · The National Planning Policy 
Framework 2018, Section 12 ‘Achieving well-designed places’ , 
point 127 (part f), which states that; ‘Planning policies and decisions 
should ensure that developments… create places that are safe, 
inclusive and accessible… and where crime and disorder, and the 
fear of crime, do not undermine the quality of life or community 
cohesion and resilience’ . And; · HMCLG’s Planning Practice 
Guidance on ‘Design’ , which states that; ‘Although design is only 
part of the planning process it can affect a range of objectives... 
Planning policies and decisions should seek to ensure the physical 
environment supports these objectives. The following issues should 
be considered: safe, connected and efficient streets… crime 
prevention… security measures… cohesive & vibrant 
neighbourhoods. ’

3.11 Wallingford 
Historical and 
Archaeological 
society

Objection. If the proposed development goes ahead, the road 
widening, increased traffic and three‐storey buildings will totally 
destroy the character and scale of this part of the town’s 
Conservation Area, including not only Goldsmith’s Lane, but also 
the visual landscape of the Kinecroft, a very precious survival of the 
Saxon burh. The materials proposed are starkly modern and totally 
out of keeping with the attractive local brick‐built environment of 
most of the rest of the town.
It is vital for the survival of our much‐loved town, that all aspects of 
its heritage are treasured, not just because of their age, but 
because they present the town with its most viable asset for 
economic survival. Tourism, as SODC so often tells us, brings 
people and money to the town and district.

3.12 Neighbours 
Objecting (111)

Detailed comments received – summary only
Object to the unnecessary demolition of historic buildings which 
significantly contribute to the character of Wallingford.
This scheme would disastrously erode the character of the 
Conservation Area and have a huge impact on the Kinecroft. 
Wallingford Town Council have been working on this scheme with 
the developer without consulting the town. This major scheme 
would mean demolishing the Locally Listed brewery buildings in the 
Wallingford Conservation Area. These buildings are important both 
historically and to the character of the Conservation Area. The 
bulky, high new buildings would loom over the Kinecroft and 
Goldsmiths Lane. The style of the proposed scheme is cod-
industrial and zinc-clad, all quite alien to Wallingford. The old line of 
this atmospheric street will be opened up with a large splayed 
entrance for 15 vehicles, putting an unacceptable strain on the 
traffic flow and increasing the already high air pollution. Congestion 
and danger to pedestrians crossing Goldsmiths Lane would result. 
There is no valid reason for this demolition and inappropriate rebuilt. 
A conservation-led car-free development, approved by SODC 
officers but turned down by members, is still awaiting appeal. This 
scheme under appeal would allow a viable and sustainable 
development, retain and reuse the historic buildings, have a 

Page 26



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 May 2019

negative traffic impact and provide a scheme that does little 
significant damage to the Conservation Area.

3.13 Neighbours 
approve (4)

This plan is very much better than the previous ones for this site 
which the Council has rejected. The entrance off Goldsmiths' Lane 
has been widened and parking places for all residents are provided 
within the site.
We are supportive of the application for the former Wallingford 
Portcullis Social Club (the Club) and of course for our entrance 
improvements. We have been consulted throughout by the 
developer as the revised plans have evolved. Worsening disrepair 
of the site is affecting the Masonic Centre threatening our buildings 
infrastructure and increasing our costs. We have also had problems 
with rats which have been coming from the Club. The Club has 
been vacant for about 4 years and the overall ambience of the area 
continues to deteriorate. The new wholesale redevelopment 
scheme is welcomed and will bring many public benefits. The 
design is very thoughtful and the revised pedestrian and vehicular 
access is a significant benefit particularly relating to safety. It will 
open up the lane, give a far lighter environment and may also help 
with the town's air pollution issues. The new scheme has a modern 
design that reflects the industrial / brewery heritage of the site and I 
believe it will enhance the conservation area. The new scheme has 
car parking unlike the Club or the previous schemes - this may help 
pressure on the car parks. Also the construction of new build 
scheme will be much efficient and less disruptive than converting 
some of the old buildings - this will assist in our operations.
Given the condition of the existing buildings, their location in a 
Conservation Area and the difficulty of finding a viable alternative 
use for the site, this project is a challenging one and compromises 
may have to be made. This scheme is
an improvement on the first submission in that it largely overcomes 
the 'canyon' effect of its predecessor - reducing the negative effects 
of both noise and exhaust emissions pollution.

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 P18/S0003/FUL - Refused (20/06/2018)

Demolition, Part demolition, redevelopment and Change of Use of the Portcullis Club 
building & No29 to provide 14 residential units. Eight two-bedroom houses, three two-
bedroom flats and three one-bedroom flats.

P16/S4208/FUL - Refused (28/07/2017)
Part demolition, redevelopment and Change of Use of the Portcullis Club building to 
provide 15 residential units comprising six two-bedroom houses, three two-bedroom 
flats and six one-bedroom flats.  (As amended by drawings accompanying e-mail from 
agent received 3 April 2017 and as clarified by drawing no 8161042_6101_B showing 
virtual footway designation).

P16/S1106/PEJ – Response (06/06/2016)
Redevelopment including part demolition of former Portcullis Club and change of use to 
C3 to provide 14 residential units. **Office meeting**

P15/S3212/PEM – Response (22/10/2015)
Conversion of main buildings and alterations (including removal of some extensions) to 
provide dwellings in place of existing social club use.

Page 27

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P18/S0003/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S4208/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S1106/PEJ
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P15/S3212/PEM


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 May 2019

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) Policies

CS1  -  Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSQ2  -  Sustainable design and construction
CSQ3  -  Design
CSS1  -  The Overall Strategy
CSWAL1  -  The Strategy for Wallingford
CSEN3  -  Historic environment
CSH4  -  Meeting housing needs
CSB1  -  Conservation and improvement of biodiversity
CSM2  -  Transport Assessments and Travel Plans

5.2 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 (SOLP 2011) policies;
CON5  -  Setting of listed building
CON6  -  Demolition in conservation area
CON7  -  Proposals in a conservation area
CON11  -  Protection of archaeological remains
CON12  -  Archaeological field evaluation
CON13  -  Archaeological investigation recording & publication
EP1  -  Adverse affect on people and environment
EP3  -  Adverse affect by external lighting
EP6  -  Sustainable drainage
EP8  -  Contaminated land
T1  -  Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
T2  -  Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users
D2  -  Safe and secure parking for vehicles and cycles
D3  -  Outdoor amenity area
D4  -  Reasonable level of privacy for occupiers
G2  -  Protect district from adverse development
H4  -  Housing sites in towns and larger villages outside Green Belt
C8  -  Adverse affect on protected species

5.3 Neighbourhood Plan policies;
Paragraph 48 of the NPPF allows for weight to be given to relevant policies in emerging 
plans, unless other material considerations indicate otherwise, and only subject to the 
stage of preparation of the plan, the extent of unresolved objections and the degree of 
consistency of the relevant emerging policies with the NPPF.

Wallingford Town Council are working towards the adoption of a neighbourhood plan. 
The Neighbourhood Plan has limited weight at this stage.

5.4 Emerging South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011-2033 (ESOLP)
The Council is preparing a new Local Plan, which will set out how development will be 
planned and delivered across South Oxfordshire to 2034.
This plan is not yet an adopted part of the development plan of the Council and as such 
can only be given limited weight.

5.5 Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents

Wallingford Conservation Area Appraisal adopted 2018

South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG 2016)

Page 28



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 May 2019

5.6 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

5.7 Other Relevant Legislation 
 Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas Act) 1990 

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 The Development Plan Section 70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

Requires that the local planning authority shall have regard to the provisions of the 
Development Plan, so far as material to the application, and to any other material 
considerations. Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 
requires where regard is to be had to the Development Plan, applications for planning 
permission must be determined in accordance with the Plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.
In the case of this proposal, the most relevant parts of the Development Plan are the 
Core Strategy which was adopted in December 2012 and the saved policies of the South 
Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011
The main issues in this case are;

 Whether the principle of development is acceptable
 Loss of community facilities
 Highways issues
 Impact on the Heritage assets

o Significance of the Portcullis buildings
o Character of the conservation area
o Setting of Scheduled Monument

 Provision of gardens
 Provision of affordable housing
 Mix of units
 Neighbour impact
 CIL

6.2 The principle of the development. The NPPF establishes that the purpose of the 
planning system is to contribute to the achievement of sustainable development. In 
order to assess whether a proposal constitutes sustainable development it must satisfy 
the three dimensions, which include the economic, social and environmental planning 
roles.  It makes it clear these three roles are mutually dependent and should not be 
taken in isolation.

Paragraph 11 of the NPPF sets out the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development.  

For decision-taking this means:
c) approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development plan 
without delay; or

d) where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are 
most important for determining the application are out-of-date, granting permission 
unless:

i. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of 
particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development 
proposed; or

ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably

Page 29



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 May 2019

outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework 
taken as a whole.

6.3 The NPPF presumption in favour of sustainable development is echoed within policy 
CS1 of the South Oxfordshire Core Strategy. The site lies in the centre of Wallingford, 
one of the towns in the district. It is a sustainable location and Policy CSWAL1 of 
SOCS sets out the overall strategy for the town. One of the aims of CSWAL1 (criterion 
x) is to achieve housing on suitable infill and redevelopment sites within the town, 
which this would do. However, the policy also seeks to enhance the town’s 
environment (criterion vi) and for the reasons identified below, there is conflict with this 
element of CSWAL1.  Whilst the principle of redevelopment is acceptable, the site 
would have to be developed with a scheme that enhanced the environment to accord 
fully with policy CSWAL1.

6.4 Loss of community facilities. Saved policy CF1 of the SOLP aims to protect essential 
community facilities as follows:

6.5 The proposal involves the loss of the social club which has been closed for a 
considerable period of time. The loss of the community facility was not included in the 
previous refusal reasons as the council were satisfied that there are suitable 
alternative facilities in the immediate vicinity and there is no objection to the loss of the 
social club.

6.6 Highways issues.
With respect to highway safety matters the advice from Central Government set out 
in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is as follows:

Development should only be prevented or refused on transport grounds where the 
residual cumulative impacts of the development are severe. 

The term severe is locally interpreted as situations, which have a high impact, likely 
to result in loss of life, or a higher possibility of occurrence with a lower impact. 

6.7 Previous schemes on the site have been car free as the existing access does not meet 
current standards for visibility. Although there has been no objection to the previous 
schemes from OCC highways, the council have refused planning permission on the 
grounds that there would have been an increase in pedestrian and vehicular activity 
due to the car free nature of the development that would be harmful to the safety and 
convenience of users of the public highway.

The proposals now include the demolition of the existing Social Club and adjacent 
dwelling and the construction of 14 No. apartments. As part of the development, 15 
No. car and 31 No. cycle parking spaces will be provided within the site for the use of 
residents and visitors. 

Page 30



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 May 2019

Access to the site will be maintained in its current position, albeit widened, to allow 
vehicles to enter/exit the site at the same time. In addition, the existing footway along 
the western side of Goldsmiths Lane will be extended to just past the site access and 
an additional drainage gully provided within the carriageway. 

It is considered that the proposals would not increase the daily traffic generation above 
that of the existing Social Club. In addition, the requirements for HGV’s to visit the site 
for servicing purposes would be significantly reduced. 

In terms of the proposed car parking provision, based on the location of the site 
(adjacent to all local amenities, including public transport facilities), the provision of 1 
No. space per apartment together with a single visitor space is in accordance with the 
Council’s adopted standards. In addition, the number of cycle parking spaces (31 No.) 
are acceptable. 

It is noted that the access will been widened to allow two cars to pass side by side at 
the same time when entering and exiting the site. However, while the increased width 
is appropriate to accommodate small cars, larger cars would be required to wait along 
the adjacent highway, leading to congestion. Nevertheless, it is considered that the 
access could be further widened, which could be achieved by way of a suitable 
planning condition.

The Highway Engineer has no objection to the scheme subject to a number of 
conditions in relation to the travel information packs, a construction traffic management 
plan and drainage.

6.8 Impact on the Heritage assets. Paragraph 184 makes it clear that heritage assets, 
such as these buildings, are an irreplaceable resource that should be conserved in a 
manner appropriate to their significance so that they can be enjoyed for the 
contribution to the quality of life of existing and future generations.

Paragraph 193 of the NPPF requires that when considering the impact of a proposed 
development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be 
given to the asset’s conservation. The more important the asset, the greater the weight 
should be. Where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the 
significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against the 
public benefits of the proposal, including securing its optimum viable use.

Paragraph 194 requires that any harm to or loss of a heritage asset should require a 
clear and convincing justification.

Paragraph 195 makes clear that where a development proposal will lead to substantial 
harm to (or total loss of significance of) a designated heritage asset, local planning 
authorities should refuse consent, unless it can be demonstrated that the substantial 
harm or total loss is necessary to achieve substantial public benefits, including 
securing its optimum viable use.

Paragraph 200 encourages LPAs to look for opportunities for new development within 
Conservation Areas and World Heritage Sites and within the setting of heritage assets 
to enhance or better reveal their significance. Proposals that preserve those elements 
of the setting that make a positive contribution to or better reveal the significance of 
the asset should be treated favourably. 

Paragraph 201 recognises not all elements of a World Heritage Site or Conservation 
Area will necessarily contribute to its significance. Loss of a building (or other element) 

Page 31



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 May 2019

which makes a positive contribution to the significance of the Conservation Area or 
World Heritage Site should be treated either as substantial harm under paragraph 195 
or less than substantial harm under paragraph 196, as appropriate, taking into account 
the relative significance of the element affected and its contribution to the significance 
of the Conservation Area or World Heritage Site as a whole. 

6.9 The historic significance of the buildings that make up the Portculis club. The 
buildings that make up the Portcullis Club include three buildings, now known as the 
Long Barn, Goldsmith’s Bar and the Corner Room which are associated with the 
former brewery on this site and are of historical and architectural interest. These are 
numbered 1, 2 and 3 in the Built Heritage Assessment submitted in support of this 
application. 

The Long Barn (building 1) and Goldsmith’s Bar (building 2) are both of similar 
construction, built of dark red brick in a Flemish bond with glazed headers and a dentil 
cornice under low-pitched roofs. The Long barn has distinctive semi-circular windows 
and Goldsmith’s Bar semi-circular headed blind arches on the road side. A cart 
entrance stands between them and both buildings have rounded corners facing this 
entrance, a common feature in early industrial buildings to prevent damage from 
vehicles. Their style and construction is typical of the later part of the 18th or early 19th 
centuries.  The Corner Room is a simpler stone-built building with a steeply pitched 
roof. It is difficult to date such a simple structure but the use of clunch walling suggests 
that it is earlier than the other buildings on the site.

6.10 These buildings are of historical interest in their own right as good examples of early 
industrial buildings and of architectural interest as handsome examples of building in 
the local vernacular style. They also make an important contribution to the character 
and significance of the conservation area as a whole. They help tell the story of 
Wallingford’s industrial past, and the particular importance of brewing and the Wells 
Brewery to the town from the late-18th to mid-20th centuries. While part of the brewery 
complex has been demolished what remains has a clear industrial character and the 
survival of further brewery buildings as part of the Masonic Lodge and the Mint (listed 
grade II) give a clear indication of the extent and character of the site in its heyday. 
The historic buildings on the proposed development site also make an important 
architectural contribution to the streetscape of Goldsmith’s Lane. The combination of 
buildings 1, 2 and 3, similar buildings to the north and The Mint on the other side of the 
road give the lane a very distinctive and attractive character with a very strong 
industrial feel. 
The other buildings on the site appear to post-date the cessation of brewing on this 
site in the 1920s and are not considered to be of heritage interest. 

6.11 There is a strong presumption in favour of retaining buildings 1-3 given their strong 
contribution to the character of the conservation area. Taking these buildings down 
and replacing them with something different cannot be regarded as sustaining the 
significance of the site, even if the new building has some similar characteristics.
While it is clear that this site needs a new and sustainable use, buildings 1-3 are 
capable of conversion in order to facilitate this as the previous applications on the site 
indicate. Whilst vehicular access is problematic, this does not necessitate the 
demolition of every historic building on the site and the loss of all the buildings on the 
site has not been clearly and convincingly justified as is required by the NPPF. The 
balancing exercise should only take place if it has been established that the harm is 
justified. Without adequate justification para 11 d i) of the NPPF makes it clear that 
planning permission should be refused.

Page 32



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 May 2019

6.12 Elevation to Goldsmiths Lane
Existing

6.13 Elevation to Goldsmiths Lane
Proposed

6.14 Character of the conservation area.
The Wallingford Conservation Area appraisal was adopted in 2018 and the proposed 
scheme has been considered with regard to the significance of the conservation area, 
and in line with Historic England’s Conservation Area Designation, Appraisal and 
Management: Historic England Advice Note 1 (2016). In accordance with paragraph 
129 of the NPPF, the significance of the designated conservation area and other 
assets have been assessed and the potential impact of the application scheme on the 
heritage assets has been duly considered.

6.15 The proposals would involve the clearance of the entire site, including the demolition 
and replacement of buildings 1-3. Given the architectural and historical interest of 
these buildings and the contribution that they make to the conservation area outlined 
above, I conclude that their loss would entail a high level of harm to the significance of 
the conservation area. In addition, the increase in height and the bulky nature of the 
proposed new buildings in the centre and west of the site, particularly the boxy third 
storey, would introduce a jarring element into the street scene of the Kinecroft, further 
harming the significance of the conservation area. 

In addition, the narrow and industrial character of Goldsmiths Lane remains 
characteristic of the late C18 influence of this commercial industry on the town. It is 
distinctly different to other routes through the conservation area. Although the physical 
road is not to be widened, the position of the new built form will have a considerable 
effect on the nature of the street scene and the experience of moving along it. 
Opening up the Goldsmiths Lane frontage by demolishing the buildings and setting 
back new buildings further into the site would also have a dramatic and harmful impact 
on the character of the conservation area and the setting of the Grade II listed 
buildings at The Mint. 

6.16 Setting of Scheduled Monument. The site borders directly onto the Scheduled 
Monument known as Wallingford Saxon Town. The visible element of this monument 
is the earthen rampart of the town walls, the setting of which benefits from the fact that 
the surrounding houses are all relatively low, replicating the likely relationship between 

Page 33



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 May 2019

the ramparts and the buildings they were erected to protect. The increase in height 
proposed would make the ramparts appear slightly smaller in relation to the town, 
diminishing their apparent scale and therefore harm the significance of the monument 
through harm to its setting, albeit to a limited degree.

6.17 Elevation to Kine Croft
Existing

6.18 Elevation to Kine Croft
Proposed

6.19 Amenity/ Provision of gardens. Minimum standards for garden areas for new 
residential development are recommended in the South Oxfordshire Design Guide and 
in Policy D3 of the Local Plan. In this case a minimum of 50 square metres of private 
garden area would be required for each 2 bedroom units and 35 square metres for 
one bed units. The lowercase text to policy D3 does however make it clear that 
schemes involving the conversion of existing buildings to residential in town centres, 
conservation areas or affecting listed buildings may be exempted from the 
recommended standards if all other relevant policy criteria are met. With the need to 
provide on site car parking there is very little amenity space proposed and all units 
would be below the required standard. However, there is easy access to the adjacent 
Kine Croft and Bull Croft park and other town centre amenities which more than makes 
up for any lack of private space. The previous schemes on the site were also 
substandard in terms of private amenity area but this reason was not included as 
refusal reasons because of the need to balance other issues.

6.20 Affordable Housing. Policy CSH3 of the SOCS requires that in housing 
developments of 3 or more units, a 40% provision of affordable housing should be 
made.  However, in May 2016 the Court of Appeal effectively re-instated the 
Government’s ministerial statement on affordable housing from November 2014. This 
means that developments of no more than 10 homes or with a gross floorspace not 
exceeding 1,000 sq m would be exempted from levies for affordable housing and tariff-
based contributions. In this case the scheme proposes a net gain of 14 units and the 
requirement to provide affordable housing is triggered.

6.21 The P16/S4208/FUL scheme was refused on the grounds that no affordable housing 
was included. However, when refusing that scheme government guidance about the 
application of the Vacant Building Credit (VBC) was not taken into account.
The VBC is designed to encourage and speed up the redevelopment of previously 
developed land which is more costly to develop than greenfield land. National policy 

Page 34



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 May 2019

on this is expressed in the PPG. At Paragraph: 021 Reference ID: 23b-021- 20160519 
it states that where a vacant building is brought back into any lawful use, or is 
demolished to be replaced by a new building, the developer should be offered a 
financial credit equivalent to the existing gross floorspace of relevant vacant buildings 
when the local planning authority calculates any affordable housing contribution which 
will be sought. Affordable housing contributions will therefore only be payable for any 
increase in floorspace.

6.22 Thus, although policy would appear to require 40% of the gain in dwellings (13 times 
0.4= 5 units) affordable housing can only be considered on the gain in residential floor 
space. The existing total floorspace is 1,142sqm (No28 + No29) and thus contributions 
could legitimately be sought only on the gain which seems to be only 2-3 sqm. Given 
the negligible increase of the proposed floorspace this would amount to a tiny 
proportion of an affordable unit. The costs of securing such a small contribution make 
the contribution not worth pursuing.

6.23 However, in addition to VBC, the applicants have made a viability argument on both 
the last refusal and this application that affordable housing should not be pursued. 
Policy CSH3 allows for no delivery of affordable housing if this would render the 
development unviable. There are considerable additional costs when developing a 
restricted urban site, including demolitions and site clearance. The submitted viability 
study demonstrates that the scheme is only just viable for the scheme at 100% private 
housing and if any affordable housing was provided the scheme would not be viable. 
Where viability is an issue Policy CSH3 provides for a reduced or no provision of 
affordable housing which is the case with this scheme and this argument was also 
accepted on the most recent refusal where the lack of affordable housing did not form 
part of the refusal of planning permission. In this case it is reasonable to follow the 
same line as the VBC and viability factors have not changed. 

6.24 Housing mix. Policy CSH4 of the SOCS seeks an appropriate mix of dwelling types 
and sizes and on schemes of over 10 dwellings, 10% should be designed to meet 
current lifetime home standards. This scheme would be made up of 1 and two 
bedroom units, which does not strictly meet the requirements of policy CSH4. 
However, as this accommodation will provide small units in a highly sustainable 
location and given the range of property sizes in the area and the need for small units 
there is no objection in this case. 

6.25 Neighbour impact. The main residential neighbours affected by this proposal are the 
properties in The Mint on the opposite side of Goldsmiths Lane.
The windows on the existing elevation to Goldsmiths Lane have been previously 
blocked and do not offer views onto the properties opposite. The Mint properties have 
a number of windows at varying levels and of varying sizes looking onto Goldsmiths 
Lane. In the past Residents of the Mint have expressed concerns about potential 
direct overlooking between windows at a distance of some 4.5 metres. The applicant 
has taken on board the concerns of The Mint residents in the design of the new 
scheme and the aspect to The Mint is much more open onto Goldsmiths Lane. All 
windows on this elevation are either high level or are obscured glazed and the 
neighbour impact on The Mint residents is considered acceptable in my view.

6.26 Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL). The council’s CIL charging schedule has 
been adopted and applies to relevant proposals from 1 April 2016. CIL is a planning 
charge that local authorities can implement to help deliver infrastructure and to support 
the development of their area and is primarily calculated on the increase in footprint 
created as a result of the development. In this case CIL is liable for the new areas of 
floor space.

Page 35



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 May 2019

6.27 Oxfordshire County Council Infrastructure contributions. The County Council 
require a S278 and S38 agreement for the road improvements should planning 
permission be granted. 

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 In this case the balancing exercise is not engaged because adequate justification for 

the removal of the buildings has not been given.  It is considered that the harm 
identified by the loss of the heritage buildings is significant and the scheme does not 
represent sustainable development in the context of the NPPF.  For these reasons, it is 
recommended that planning permission is refused.

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 Refuse Planning Permission for the following reasons;

1. The proposal involves the demolition of the existing buildings on the site 
resulting in the loss of an important group of non-designated heritage 
assets within the Wallingford Conservation Area. This would result in 
harm to the significance of the conservation area as a designated heritage 
asset where there is no clear and convincing justification for this harm. As 
such, the application is contrary to Policy CSEN3 of the adopted South 
Oxfordshire Core Strategy and Policies CON6 and CON7 of the adopted 
South Oxfordshire Local Plan and Paragraphs 193, 194, 196 and 197 of the 
NPPF.

2. The design, height and bulky nature of the proposed new buildings in the 
centre and west of the site, particularly the boxy third storey, and the 
change of layout on Goldsmiths Lane would neither enhance or better 
reveal the significance of the conservation area. These changes would 
harm the significance, character and appearance of the conservation area 
and the setting of the adjacent Scheduled Monument of the Wallingford 
Saxon Town and the Grade II listed buildings in The Mint. The application 
is contrary to Policy CSEN3 of the adopted South Oxfordshire Core 
Strategy, Policies CON5, CON7 and CON11 of the adopted South 
Oxfordshire Local Plan and advice in section 16 of the NPPF.

Author:        Sharon Crawford
Contact No: 01235 422600
Email:           planning@southoxon.gov.uk

 

Page 36



Page 37

Agenda Item 10

SAV_SHACRA
Typewriter
Appendix 1

SAV_SHACRA_1
Typewriter
ScheduledMonument

SAV_SHACRA_2
Typewriter
The Site

SAV_SHACRA_3
Typewriter
Listed buildings

SAV_SHACRA_4
Arrow



P1 S0

AW

KEY

18080-032

032

MAR 2019

K
IN

E
C

R
O

F
T

MASONIC HALL

COMMUNITY CENTRE

G
O

L
D

S
M
IT

H
S
 L

A
N

E

Proposed block plan

boundary

SLOW

KEEP

CLEAR

DK

 

Oxford Architects LLP, is a Limited Liability Partnership registered in England. Copyright Reserved. All dimensions to be checked on site before work commences. Figured dimensions to be used DO NOT SCALE OFF THE DRAWING. If in doubt ask.

0

1:500 @ A3

15m

1:500 @ A3

BWD

Title

Project

Scale

Partner Drawn Date

DateRev

Bagley Croft, Hinksey Hill, Oxford, OX1 5BS

T. 01865 329100 F. 01865 326822 oxford-architects.com

Drawing Reference

Drawing No Revision Status

Description

N
o
rt
h The Workshop, 254 Southmead Road, Bristol. BS10 5EN

T. 0117 9581500  F. 0117 9581501  oxford-architects.com

Portcullis Club

Page 38

SAV_SHACRA_5
Typewriter
Appendix 2



Page 39

SAV_SHACRA_6
Typewriter
Appendix 2



Page 40

SAV_SHACRA_7
Typewriter
Appendix 2



Page 41

SAV_SHACRA_8
Typewriter
Appendix 2



Page 42

SAV_SHACRA_9
Typewriter
Appendix 2



P2 S0

AW

TOTAL 14 UNITS

KEY

042

FEB 2019

18080-042

Proposed second floor plan

boundary

K
IN

E
C

R
O

F
T

COMMUNITY CENTRE

MASONIC HALL

G
O

L
D

S
M
IT

H
S
 L

A
N

E

31 cycle spaces

15 parking spaces (including 1 disabled space)

9 x 2 bedroom flat (2B)

5 x 1 bedroom flat (1B)

SLOW

NO.9

Bathroom

Hall

Bathroom

Bathroom

Bathroom

1BED

FLAT 11

2BED
FLAT 12

2BED
FLAT 13

2BED
FLAT 14

Dining Room
Lounge/

Kitchen

Bedroom 1

Wardrobe

Bedroom 2

W
a
rd
ro

b
e

Dining Room

Lounge/

Kitchen

Bedroom

Bedroom 1

Bedroom 2

Wardrobe

Wardrobe

Dining Room
Lounge/

Kitchen

Wardrobe

Wardrobe

Bedroom 1

Bedroom 2

Dining Room
Lounge/

Kitchen

Oxford Architects LLP, is a Limited Liability Partnership registered in England. Copyright Reserved. All dimensions to be checked on site before work commences. Figured dimensions to be used DO NOT SCALE OFF THE DRAWING. If in doubt ask.

1:200 @ A3

0 6m

1:200 @ A3

BWD

Title

Project

Scale

Partner Drawn Date

DateRev

Bagley Croft, Hinksey Hill, Oxford, OX1 5BS

T. 01865 329100 F. 01865 326822 oxford-architects.com

Drawing Reference

Drawing No Revision Status

Description

N
o
rt
h The Workshop, 254 Southmead Road, Bristol. BS10 5EN

T. 0117 9581500  F. 0117 9581501  oxford-architects.com

Portcullis Club

Page 43

SAV_SHACRA_10
Typewriter
Appendix 2



P2 S0

AW

TOTAL 14 UNITS

KEY

041

FEB 2019

18080-041

Proposed first floor plan

boundary

K
IN

E
C

R
O

F
T

COMMUNITY CENTRE

MASONIC HALL

G
O

L
D

S
M
IT

H
S
 L

A
N

E

31 cycle spaces

15 parking spaces (including 1 disabled space)

9 x 2 bedroom flat (2B)

5 x 1 bedroom flat (1B)

SLOW

NO.9

Bathroom

2BED
FLAT 7

Bathroom

Hall

Bathroom

1BED

FLAT 5

Hall

Hall

Bedroom

Bathroom

1BED

FLAT 6

2BED
FLAT 10

Dining Room
Lounge/

2BED
FLAT 9

Dining Room
Lounge/

Bathroom

Bathroom

2BED
FLAT 8

Dining Room

Lounge/

Kitchen

Dining Room

Lounge/

Kitchen

Bedroom

Bedroom 2

W
a
rd
ro

b
e

Bedroom 1

Wardrobe

Dining Room
Lounge/

W
a
rd
ro

b
e

Bedroom 1

Bedroom 2

Kitchen

Dining Room
Lounge/

Kitchen

Bedroom 1

Bedroom 2

Wardrobe

Wardrobe

Wardrobe

Wardrobe

Kitchen

Kitchen

Oxford Architects LLP, is a Limited Liability Partnership registered in England. Copyright Reserved. All dimensions to be checked on site before work commences. Figured dimensions to be used DO NOT SCALE OFF THE DRAWING. If in doubt ask.

1:200 @ A3

0 6m

1:200 @ A3

BWD

Title

Project

Scale

Partner Drawn Date

DateRev

Bagley Croft, Hinksey Hill, Oxford, OX1 5BS

T. 01865 329100 F. 01865 326822 oxford-architects.com

Drawing Reference

Drawing No Revision Status

Description

N
o
rt
h The Workshop, 254 Southmead Road, Bristol. BS10 5EN

T. 0117 9581500  F. 0117 9581501  oxford-architects.com

Portcullis Club

Page 44

SAV_SHACRA_11
Typewriter
Appendix 2



D
r
a

w
i
n

g
 
N

o
.

Rev

Date :

Scale :

Status :

Project Engineer :

Project Director   :

T
i
t
l
e

 
:

P
r
o

j
e

c
t
 
:

C
l
i
e

n
t
 
:

R
e

v
.

D
e

s
c
r
i
p

t
i
o

n

C
h

k
d

postbox@glanvillegroup.com  www.glanvillegroup.com

G
l
a
n
v
i
l
l
e

6
2

 
F

o
x
h

a
l
l
 
R

o
a

d
,
 
D

i
d

c
o

t

O
x
o

n
,
 
O

X
1

1
 
7
A

D

D
a

t
e

Tel: (01235) 515550  Fax: (01235) 817799

C
o

r
n
e

r
s
t
o

n
e
 
H

o
u

s
e

8
1

8
0

6
2

9
/
6

2
0

4
A

W
i
n
s
l
a
d
e
 
I
n
v
e
s
t
m

e
n
t
s
 
(
W

a
l
l
i
n
g
f
o
r
d
)
 
L
t
d
.

P
o
r
t
c
u
l
l
i
s
 
C

l
u
b

W
a
l
l
i
n
g
f
o
r
d

P
r
o
p
o
s
e
d
 
S

i
t
e
 
A

c
c
e
s
s

S
w

e
p
t
 
P

a
t
h
 
A

n
a
l
y
s
i
s

T
w

o
 
C

a
r
s

M.Delgado

T. Foxall

1:250 @
 A3

April 2019

P
R

E
L

I
M

I
N

A
R

Y

NOTES

1.
This drawing is to be read in conjunction with all relevant
documents and specifications.

2.
Dimensions are not to be scaled.

Source: Oxford Architects drawing number 18080-010 Rev P3.

N

KEY

Large car - forward gear

TW
O  CARS

A
Vehicle type amended and kerbs position
modified.

M.Delgado
09/04/19

TF

Page 45

SAV_SHACRA_12
Typewriter
Appendix 2



This page is intentionally left blank



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 May 2019

APPLICATION NO. P19/S0614/RM
APPLICATION TYPE RESERVED MATTERS
REGISTERED 26.2.2019
PARISH CHOLSEY
WARD MEMBER(S) Jane Murphy

Anne-Marie Simpson
APPLICANT Aarrhus Developments Ltd
SITE 14 Ilges Lane Cholsey, OX10 9NX
PROPOSAL Reserved Matters application for appearance, 

landscaping (to include detailed plans showing the 
existing and proposed ground levels of the vehicular 
access and the site relative to a fixed datum point on 
adjoining land outside of the application site) and 
layout, for demolition of existing bungalow and 
erection of one pair of semi-detached dwellings and 
one detached dwelling with shared access on 
outline planning permission P16/S4236/O

OFFICER Kim Gould

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 The application has been referred to the Planning Committee because the 

recommendation conflicts with the views of Cholsey Parish Council who object to the 
application. 

1.2 No 14 Ilges Lane is a detached bungalow set back behind a raised embankment 
above the road. The property is served by a vehicular access leading to an off-road 
parking area and there is a private garden area to the rear.

1.3 The site lies within the built-up limits of Cholsey outside any area of restraint. The site 
lies within walking distance of the village shops and the railway station. 

1.4 The site is identified on the Ordnance Survey Extract attached as Appendix 1.

1.5 Outline planning permission for the demolition of the existing bungalow and the 
erection of 3 new dwellings comprising one pair of semi-detached houses and one 
detached house was approved under reference P16/S4236/O. The access and scale 
of the development only were considered at this outline stage with all other matters 
reserved. (Appearance, landscaping and layout.) Indicative drawings however, were 
submitted at the outline stage.

Page 47

Agenda Item 11

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P19/S0614/RM


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 May 2019

1.6 The submitted indicative elevation drawing at the outline stage

The approved block plan at the outline stage

Page 48



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 May 2019

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 This application seeks reserved matters approval for appearance, landscaping and 

layout, for the demolition of existing bungalow and erection of 3 dwellings with shared 
access. Access and scale where considered at the outline stage under application 
P16/S4236/O.

2.2 The current scheme comprises a terrace of 1 x 2, 1 x 3 and 1 x 4 bedroom dwellings. 
Each dwelling has its own private amenity area and allocated parking. The proposed 
building will be sited on generally the same footprint as the outline scheme and will be 
two storeys in height. 

2.3 A comparison of the footprint of the outline scheme and the current proposal (thick 
black line) is shown below.

2.4 The plans of the proposed development are attached as Appendix 2. Full details of the 
application and the consultation responses can be viewed on the council’s website at 
www.southoxon.gov.uk

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
3.1 Cholsey Parish Council – Object

 The bulk and scale of the proposed houses appear to be out of kilter with the 
surrounding area, particularly as they occupy an elevated position.

 This new iteration of the plans appears to show the houses higher than in the 
original application.

 We are concerned that neighbours on the opposite side of the road will find 
these new houses dominant and overbearing.

 The site occupies a frontage on the narrowest part of Ilges Lane.

Page 49

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 May 2019

3.2

3.3

3.4

3.5

3.6

 We are concerned that there is little room to manoeuvre cars on the drives of 
the houses and as such they will be forced to reverse into Ilges lane.

Countryside Officer - No objection 

Env. Protection Team - No objection 

OCC (Highways) – No objection subject to conditions relating to existing access, vision 
splay protection, parking and manoeuvring areas retained and no surface water 
drainage to highway.

Forestry Officer (landscaping) – Awaited

Neighbour Objection (1)
 Overdevelopment
 Out of keeping
 Bungalow more in keeping

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 P18/S4239/PEM - Other Outcome (30/01/2019)

Reserved Matters application for the siting and appearance of the three new dwellings 
along with landscaping for the site.(P16/S4236/O).
**OFFICE MEETING**

P16/S4236/O - Approved (15/03/2017)
Demolition of existing bungalow and erection of one pair of semi-detached dwellings 
and one detached dwelling with shared access. As amended by revised plans received 
on 07 February 2017 and by Swept Path drawings received on 24 February 2017.

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) Policies

CS1  -  Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSQ3  -  Design
CSR1  -  Housing in villages
CSS1  -  The Overall Strategy

5.2 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 (SOLP 2011) policies;

D1  -  Principles of good design
D2  -  Safe and secure parking for vehicles and cycles
D3  -  Outdoor amenity area
D4  -  Reasonable level of privacy for occupiers
G2  -  Protect district from adverse development
H4  -  Housing sites in towns and larger villages outside Green Belt
T1  -  Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
T2  -  Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users

5.3 Neighbourhood Plan policies;

CNP H2  Infill 
CNP H5  New houses
CNP H6  New houses
CNP I1    Infrastructure
CNP 13   Drainage

Page 50

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P18/S4239/PEM
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S4236/O


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 May 2019

CNP T1   Walking and cycling network

5.4 Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents

South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG 2016)

5.5 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 The principle, details of access and scale have already been approved. In considering 

this reserved matter application, the key issues are:

 Layout
 Appearance
 Landscaping
 Impact on neighbours
 Garden sizes

6.2 Layout
The proposed terrace would be set back further from the highway than the existing 
bungalow. This would result in a distance of some 28 metres between the front wall of 
the proposed terrace and the front of the houses on the other side of Ilges Lane. 
Access into the proposed site is situated off Ilges Lane. The proposed terrace would be 
set back on the site compared to no 12 Ilges lane but wholly in front of the neighbouring 
dwelling at no 16, thereby creating an appropriate transition between the 2 
neighbouring properties from a street scene perspective. 

This access was approved under planning application P16/S4236/O. The outline 
consent considered the means of access as a detailed matter. In accordance with the 
council’s parking standards, 7 spaces have been provided.

6.3 Appearance
The proposed development is a terrace of 3 properties. There are examples of other 
terraces within close proximity to the site e.g 45-51 and 13-17 Ilges Lane. As such the 
proposed appearance of the development would reinforce local distinctiveness. 

The proposed finishing materials are brick and plain tiles which are very traditional. The 
pallet of materials used in the locality are varied but do include brick and tile as well as 
render, thatch and timber boarding. As such the proposed materials of brick and clay 
tiles would be in keeping with the locality.
 

6.4 Landscaping
A landscaping scheme has been submitted with this application and includes planting 
between the proposed parking area and the front of the new terrace to provide an 
attractive outlook from the new dwellings. A condition requiring this landscaping 
scheme to be implemented has been recommended.

6.5 Impact on neighbours
The proposed layout included a first-floor bedroom window in the eastern elevation and 
a hallway window in the western elevation. Both of these windows would be obscure 
glazed to preserve the amenities of these neighbouring occupiers. A condition requiring 
this has been recommended. 

Page 51



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 May 2019

The proposed building incorporates a hipped roof at either end to minimise the impact 
of the building from the 2 neighbouring properties. The indicative plans submitted at the 
outline stage showed gable ends to either flank.

No objection to this proposal has been received from neighbours.

6.6 Garden sizes
Minimum standards for new residential development are recommended in the South 
Oxfordshire Design Guide and in the saved Policy D3 of the SOLP. In this case, the 3 
and 4-bedroom dwellings require a minimum private garden area of 100sqm whilst the 
2 bed dwelling requires 50sqm of such amenity space. In this case, the plans show 
plots 1 and 2 both having 100sqm of rear garden and plot 3 having 60sqm of rear 
garden. As such the proposal meets the council’s standards in relation to garden sizes.

6.7 Community Infrastructure Levy
The Development is CIL liable and the necessary forms and information required at this 
stage have been submitted.

6.8 Other issues
The Parish Council have raised a number of concerns in relation to this application and 
these are addressed below.

 The bulk and scale of the proposed houses appear to be out of kilter with 
the surrounding area, particularly as they occupy an elevated position. 
The scale of the building was approved at the outline stage. As illustrated in the 
comparative drawings below, the scale of the outline scheme and the current 
scheme are very similar

 This new iteration of the plans appears to show the houses higher than in 
the original application.

The elevation drawings submitted in the outline application were indicative only. The 
front elevation facing Ilges lane was shown as follows:

The ridge height of this indicative drawing is some 7.15m 

The front elevation of the current proposal is shown below as a comparison. The ridge 
height of this is some 7.9m. As such the heights between the 2 schemes are 
comparable and not materially different in your officer’s opinion. 

Page 52



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 May 2019

 We are concerned that neighbours on the opposite side of the road will 
find these new houses dominant and overbearing. The South Oxfordshire 
Design Guide advises that front to front distances between dwellings should be 
a minimum of 10 m.  The scale of this development was approved at the outline 
stage. The buildings will be some 14.2 m away from  nos 33 and 35 Ilges Lane 
opposite the site and 10.06m from nos 29 and 31 Ilges Lane. The new dwellings 
will look towards the front of the existing dwellings opposite. As such the 
proposal accords with Design Guide advice.

 We are concerned that there is little room to manoeuvre cars on the drives 
of the houses and as such they will be forced to reverse into Ilges lane. 

7 car park spaces are provided within the site with turning area. A distance of 7m is 
proposed between the parking spaces on either side of the site. The Highway 
Officer is of the view that this is sufficient space for cars to manoeuvre out of the 
spaces and turn so as to leave the site safely.

Page 53



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 May 2019

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 Outline planning permission for 3 dwellings exists on this site. The proposed 

development has a smaller footprint than the extant scheme and is more in keeping 
with the locality than the illustrative drawings submitted with the outline planning 
permission. The principle of this development has been approved. The proposal meets 
the council’s standards in relation to parking and garden sizes. As such, there are no 
technical reasons to refuse this application.

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 That planning permission is granted subject to the following conditions:

1. Approved plans 
2. Commencement - Reserved Matters Approval
3. Materials as on plan
4.  Obscure glazing
5.  Parking manoeuvring areas retained.  
6.  Landscaping plan to be implemented
7.  SI: Highways
8.  SI: Highways
9.  SI: Highways
10.SI: Neighbourhood Plan

Author:              Kim Gould
Contact No:       01235 422600
e-mail:                planning@southoxon.gov.uk

Page 54



Appendix 1

Page 55

Agenda Item 11



Rev Date Notes

K1872 - 02 - 202

Project

for

Drawing Title

Date

Job No Drawing No Revision

Scale

Proposed Block Plan

This document is the copyright work of Key Land
Estates ltd. unless formally assigned in writing

14 Ilges Lane
Cholsey Ox10 9NX

K1852

22/02/2019

P L A N N I N G

Park Office - Unit 1B
Monument Business Park

Warpsgrove Lane - Chalgrove
Oxfordshire. OX44  7RW

T: +44(0)1865 689 444

T: +44(0)7968 031139

pburman@keylandestates.co.uk
mhester@keylandestates.co.uk

www.keylandestates.co.uk

 Aarrhus Developments

Status
3

24

27

2

1

24

26

2216

37

45
49

41

19

53a

55

4

27
29 31

12

23

1

ILGES LANE

PA
N

TE
R

S 
R

O
AD

1

2

2A

2B

500mN

51
.3

8

51
.1

0

50
.8

4

50
.6

2

50
.3

2

50
.1

4

50.08

50.23

50
.2

7

50.22

50.26

50.29

50.20

50.16

50.12

49.99

50.07

50.11

50.07

50.01

49.96

49.95

49.97

50.01

50.26

50.40

50.45

50.56

50.48

50.38

51.42

51.39

51.37

50.49

50.59

50.64

50.78

50.72

50.64

51.69

51
.4

6

51
.35

51
.28 51.21

53
.9

7

49.97

52.59

55.65

50.30

54.30

51.94

56
.9

8

SV

MH CL

Gully

51.34

EPLP

Sta
y

EP

T.D.M
MH CL = 50.00m

Close board fence h=1.85

Close board fence h=1.85

C
lo

se
 b

oa
rd

 fe
nc

e 
h=

1.
85

C
lo

se
 b

oa
rd

 fe
nc

e 
h=

1.
85

C
lo

se
 b

oa
rd

 fe
nc

e 
h=

1.
85

Shingle

IC CL 51.60      IL 50.00

Metal railing fence h=1
Metal railing fence h=1

Hedging h=1

SV

SV

Watermeter

Drop kerb

Drop kerb

Drop kerb

DPC level

He
dg

ing
 a

ve
 h

=2

Garage

No.12

No.31

No.33

No.35

No.37

No.16

Pu
bl

ic
 F

oo
tp

at
h

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

T

E

T

E

T

E

T

E

T

E

T

E

T

E

T

E

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

Ridge level

Eaves level

Ro
of

 le
ve

l

Ro
of

 le
ve

l

55
.6

7
Ri

dg
e 

le
ve

l

55.43Ridge level

52.59

Eaves level

52.59Eaves level

56.80

Ridge level

58
.3

5

54
.9

2

Ea
ve

s l
ev

el

59.10Ridge level

59.21Ridge level

56.85

Eaves level

DPC level

Roof level

56.99

Eaves level

54.41

Roof level

52.04

DPC level

57
.4

7

Ri
dg

e 
le

ve
l

54
.4

4
Ro

of
 le

ve
l

51
.2

8
M

H 
C

L

Ri
dg

e 
le

ve
l

Grass

W
all

Wall

Drive

Note:All eaves levels taken on edge of roof tiles.

Chain link fence
strainer post

strainer post

ILGES LANE

PLOT 1

PLOT 2

PLOT 3

4 Bed

3 Bed

2 Bed

North
ew

s

Scale Bars - shown in metres

Existing Site Plan 1:200 @ A1
1:200 @ A1

1:200 @ A1
4 100 2 16

Site Area
Sqm         - 870.0
Acres       - 0.215
Hectares  - 0.087

A

A
B

B

A    Feb 19   Scheme Revisions

B

B   22-02-19  Planning Issue

Appendix 2

P
age 56



Rev Date Notes

K1872 - 02 - 205

Project

for

Drawing Title

Date

Job No Drawing No Revision

Scale

Proposed Site Layout

This document is the copyright work of Key Land
Estates ltd. unless formally assigned in writing

14 Ilges Lane
Cholsey Ox10 9NX

K1852

22/02/2019

P L A N N I N G

Park Office - Unit 1B
Monument Business Park

Warpsgrove Lane - Chalgrove
Oxfordshire. OX44  7RW

T: +44(0)1865 689 444

T: +44(0)7968 031139

pburman@keylandestates.co.uk
mhester@keylandestates.co.uk

www.keylandestates.co.uk

 Aarrhus Developments

Status

24
2216

37
29 31

12

ILGES LANE
1

2

2A

51
.3

8

51
.1

0

50
.8

4

50
.6

2

50
.3

2

50
.1

4

50.08

50.23

50
.2

7

50.22

50.26

50.29

50.20

50.16

50.12

49.99

50.07

50.11

50.07

50.01

49.96

49.95

49.97

50.01

50.26

50.40

50.45

50.56

50.48

50.38

51.42

51.39

51.37

50.49

50.59

50.64

50.78

50.72

50.64

51.69

51
.4

6

51
.35

51
.28 51.21

53
.9

7

49.97

52.59

55.65

50.30

54.30

51.94

56
.9

8

SV

MH CL

Gully

51.34

EPLP

Sta
y

EP

T.D.M
MH CL = 50.00m

Close board fence h=1.85

Close board fence h=1.85

C
lo

se
 b

oa
rd

 fe
nc

e 
h=

1.
85

C
lo

se
 b

oa
rd

 fe
nc

e 
h=

1.
85

C
lo

se
 b

oa
rd

 fe
nc

e 
h=

1.
85

Shingle

IC CL 51.60      IL 50.00

Metal railing fence h=1
Metal railing fence h=1

Hedging h=1

SV

SV

Watermeter

Drop kerb

Drop kerb

Drop kerb

DPC level

He
dg

ing
 a

ve
 h

=2

Garage

No.12

No.31

No.35

No.37

No.16

Pu
bl

ic
 F

oo
tp

at
h

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

T

E

T

E

T

E

T

E

T

E

T

E

T

E

T

E

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

Ridge level

Eaves level

Ro
of

 le
ve

l

Ro
of

 le
ve

l

55
.6

7
Ri

dg
e 

le
ve

l

55.43Ridge level

52.59

Eaves level

52.59Eaves level

56.80

Ridge level

58
.3

5

54
.9

2

Ea
ve

s l
ev

el

59.21Ridge level

56.85

Eaves level

DPC level

Roof level

56.99

Eaves level

54.41

Roof level

52.04

DPC level

57
.4

7

Ri
dg

e 
le

ve
l

54
.4

4
Ro

of
 le

ve
l

51
.2

8
M

H 
C

L

Ri
dg

e 
le

ve
l

Grass

W
all

Wall

Drive

Chain link fence
strainer post

strainer post

ILGES LANE

Bath

en
suite

Bed 2

w

Bed 1

ac

w

Bed 1

w

Bed 3

Bed 2

ac

Bath
st

en
suite

w

Bed 1

Bed 2
Bed 4

Bed 3
Bath

en
suite

ac

w
w

st

w

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

PLOT 1

PLOT 2

PLOT 3

4 Bed

3 Bed

2 Bed

North
ew

s

Scale Bars - shown in metres

Proposed Site  Plan 1:100 @ A1
1 80

1:100 @ A1  1: 200 @ A3
2 64

Showing First Floor

1:100 @ A1 - 1:200 @ A3

A    Feb 19   Scheme Revisions

B

B   22-02-19  Planning Issue

P
age 57



Rev Date Notes

K1872 - 02 - 206

Project

for

Drawing Title

Date

Job No Drawing No Revision

Scale

Site Layout

This document is the copyright work of Key Land
Estates ltd. unless formally assigned in writing

14 Ilges Lane
Cholsey Ox10 9NX

K1852

22/02/2019

P L A N N I N G

Park Office - Unit 1B
Monument Business Park

Warpsgrove Lane - Chalgrove
Oxfordshire. OX44  7RW

T: +44(0)1865 689 444

T: +44(0)7968 031139

pburman@keylandestates.co.uk
mhester@keylandestates.co.uk

www.keylandestates.co.uk

 Aarrhus Developments

Status

24
2216

37
29 31

12

ILGES LANE
1

2

2A

51
.3

8

51
.1

0

50
.8

4

50
.6

2

50
.3

2

50
.1

4

50.08

50.23

50
.2

7

50.22

50.26

50.29

50.20

50.16

50.12

49.99

50.07

50.11

50.07

50.01

49.96

49.95

49.97

50.01

50.26

50.40

50.45

50.56

50.48

50.38

51.42

51.39

51.37

50.49

50.59

50.64

50.78

50.72

50.64

51.69

51
.4

6

51
.35

51
.28 51.21

53
.9

7

49.97

52.59

55.65

50.30

54.30

51.94

56
.9

8

SV

MH CL

Gully

51.34

EPLP

Sta
y

EP

T.D.M
MH CL = 50.00m

Close board fence h=1.85

Close board fence h=1.85

C
lo

se
 b

oa
rd

 fe
nc

e 
h=

1.
85

C
lo

se
 b

oa
rd

 fe
nc

e 
h=

1.
85

C
lo

se
 b

oa
rd

 fe
nc

e 
h=

1.
85

Shingle

IC CL 51.60      IL 50.00

Metal railing fence h=1
Metal railing fence h=1

Hedging h=1

SV

SV

Watermeter

Drop kerb

Drop kerb

Drop kerb

DPC level

He
dg

ing
 a

ve
 h

=2

Garage

No.12

No.31

No.35

No.37

No.16

Pu
bl

ic
 F

oo
tp

at
h

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

T

E

T

E

T

E

T

E

T

E

T

E

T

E

T

E

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

Ridge level

Eaves level

Ro
of

 le
ve

l

Ro
of

 le
ve

l

55
.6

7
Ri

dg
e 

le
ve

l

55.43Ridge level

52.59

Eaves level

52.59Eaves level

56.80

Ridge level

58
.3

5

54
.9

2

Ea
ve

s l
ev

el

59.21Ridge level

56.85

Eaves level

DPC level

Roof level

56.99

Eaves level

54.41

Roof level

52.04

DPC level

57
.4

7

Ri
dg

e 
le

ve
l

54
.4

4
Ro

of
 le

ve
l

51
.2

8
M

H 
C

L

Ri
dg

e 
le

ve
l

Grass

W
all

Wall

Drive

Chain link fence
strainer post

strainer post

ILGES LANE

PLOT 1

PLOT 2

PLOT 3

4 Bed

3 Bed

2 Bed

North
ew

s

Scale Bars - shown in metres

Proposed Site  Plan 1:100 @ A1
1 80

1:100 @ A1  1: 200 @ A3
2 64

Showing Building to be demolished

1:100 @ A1 - 1:200 @ A3

Legend

Existing Bungalow
and garage to be
demolished

A    Feb 19   Scheme Revisions

B

B   22-02-19  Planning Issue

P
age 58



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 22 May 2019

APPLICATION NO. P18/S2231/FUL
APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION
REGISTERED 15.8.2018
PARISH GARSINGTON
WARD MEMBER(S) Elizabeth Gillespie
APPLICANT O'Brien Building Services Ltd
SITE South Oxford Business Centre Lower Road 

Garsington, OX44 9DP
PROPOSAL Conversion and alteration of vacant first floor office 

accommodation to create 3 x two bed flats and 1 x 
one bed flat with private external amenity space.

OFFICER Paul Bowers

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1

1.2

The application is referred to planning committee at the discretion of the Development 
Manager.

The application is recommended for refusal of planning permission on the basis of the 
lack of a contribution towards affordable housing. 

1.3 The application site is part of a larger building that comprises the former Oxford 
Equestrian Centre to the south of Garsington village and within the Oxford Green Belt. 

1.4 The site was formerly a horse riding centre which was closed several years ago. 
Recent planning permissions have allowed for B1 uses within the building and in 2011 
planning permission was granted to change the use of the riding arena to B8 storage, 
specifically for the storing classic cars. 

1.5 Adjacent to the main storage part of the building on the north western side of the 
building is a block of 6 one bedroom residential units which were the subject of 
certificates of lawful development from 2011 establishing that they could be occupied 
without connection with the Equestrian Centre. 

1.6 Planning permission to change the use of an existing storage area on the ground floor 
adjacent to the row of 6 residential units to a one bedroom dwelling was granted in 
July 2013 under application reference P13/S1309/FUL. That permission has been 
implemented.

1.7 In 2014 planning permission was granted under application reference P14/S0567/FUL 
to convert what was a vacant B1 office at first floor level at the front/eastern end 
elevation to become 2 x two bedroom flats. 

1.8 In 2015 planning permission was granted under application reference P15/S3495/FUL 
for the conversion and alteration of ground floor storage units which were formerly on 
the south eastern side of the building to provide 2 x 1-bed flats with associated 
external amenity space provision. 

1.9 In 2016 planning permission was granted under application reference 
P16/SS2932/FUL to create two 1 bedroom flats by converting the remaining storage 
units on the south west elevation. In addition, a new mezzanine level would be 

Page 59

Agenda Item 12

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P18/S2231/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 22 May 2019

created within the former arena to create 8 x 2 bed flats and associated dormer 
windows – four dormers to the north west and four to the south east. 

1.10 Also in 2016 planning permission was granted for the variation of Condition 2 of 
planning permission P14/S0567/FUL to allow for the addition of dormer windows to 
the two approved flats so that they matched the dormers which were approved under 
application P16/S2932/FUL.

1.11 Most recently planning permission was granted under application reference 
P19/S0180/FUL for a further alteration to the dormer windows serving the approved 
two flats the subject of the 2014 permission.

1.12 A plan identifying the site is attached as Appendix 1.

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 This application seeks full planning permission to increase the number of units 

approved under application P14/S0567/FUL and which was varied to allow for the 
creation of dormer windows under applications P16/S2932/FUL and P19/S0180/FUL 
from 2 units to 4. The development would comprise 3 x two-bedroom flats and 1 x one 
bedroom flat. 

2.2

2.3

Reduced copies of the plans accompanying the application is attached as Appendix 2 
to this report. All the plans and representations can be viewed on the council’s website 
www.southoxon.gov.uk under the planning application reference number.

The approved floor plans for the 2 unit scheme P14/S0567/FUL can be found attached 
at Appendix 3 and the floor plans for the 10 unit approved scheme can be found 
attached at Appendix 4 

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

3.5

Garsington Parish Council – Fully supports.  

Neighbour Responses – None received. 

Waste Management Officer - No objection. 

Housing Development – Recommend that the application is refused on the basis that 
the contribution toward affordable housing should be made on the basis of a larger 
number of units than the net gain of 2 generated by this development. 

Highways Liaison Officer - No objection subject to a condition that requires the 
retention of the parking and manoeuvring areas. 

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 P19/S0180/FUL – Approved (05/03/2019)

Variation of Condition 2 of P14/S0567/FUL for the substitution of proposed plans. 
Conversion and alteration of vacant first floor office accommodation (approved by 
applications P02/N0295 and P04/W0773) to create 2 x two bed flats with shared 
external amenity space.

P17/S1461/PEM - Other Outcome (30/06/2017)
Proposed conversion and external/internal alterations of former indoor riding school, 
including amendments to permissions granted by applications P16/S4295/FUL, 
P16/S2932/FUL & P15/S3495/FUL to create an additional 5 flats.  

Page 60

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P17/S1461/PEM


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 22 May 2019

P16/S4295/FUL - Approved (02/03/2017)
Variation of Condition 2 of P14/S0567/FUL for the substitution of proposed plans.
Conversion and alteration of vacant first floor office accommodation (approved by 
applications P02/N0295 and P04/W0773) to create 2 x two bed flats with shared 
external amenity space.

P16/S2932/FUL - Approved (10/11/2016)
Proposed conversion, external and internal alterations of former indoor riding school to 
create 8 x two bedroom first floor flats and 2 x one bedroom ground floor flats with 
associated indoor parking and secure cycle storage provision and with private or 
shared external amenity space.

P16/S0753/PEJ - Other Outcome (18/04/2016)
Proposed conversion and external/internal alterations of former indoor riding school to 
create 10 x two bedroom first floor flats and 2 one bedroom ground floor flats with 
provision of indoor parking facilities and private and/or shared external amenity space.
**MEETING**

P15/S3495/FUL - Approved (11/12/2015)
Proposed conversion and alteration of ground floor storage units (former stables) to 
provide 2 x 1-bed flats with associated external amenity space provision.

P14/S0567/FUL - Approved (16/04/2014)
Conversion and alteration of vacant first floor office accommodation (approved by 
applications P02/N0295 and P04/W0773) to create 2 x two bed flats with shared 
external amenity space.

P13/S1309/FUL - Approved (02/07/2013)
Change of use of store to a one bedroom dwelling, with car parking, waste bin and 
cycle storage, means of enclosure and amenity space.

P11/W2127 - Approved (17/04/2012)
Amendment of access to dwellings approved under planning permission P09/W0967 to 
take route via Equestrian Centre's drive and parking area and surface alterations to 
provide this route. 2. Removal of condition 4 of planning permission P09/W0967. (As 
amended by drawings 31b and 40b accompanying letter from agent dated 5 March 
2012).

P04/W0773 - Approved (27/09/2004)
Change of use of veterinary surgery and shop(at ground floor) and restaurant/clubroom 
(at first floor) for B1(a) office purposes. (Variation of Planning permission P02/N0295).  
(As amended by Drawing No. 97/491/2 Rev 2 accompanying Agent's letter dated 24 
August 2004).

P02/N0296 - Refused (03/07/2002) - Appeal allowed (16/07/2003)
Variation of condition 2 of planning permission P98/N0217 (insofar as it relates to the 
ground floor restaurant area) by removal of the words..."and shall not be occupied and 
/or used separately therefrom".

P02/N0295 - Approved (03/07/2002)
Change of use of chiropractors and shop (at ground floor) and restaurant/clubroom (at 
first floor) for (B1(a) office purposes.

Page 61

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S4295/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S2932/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S0753/PEJ
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P15/S3495/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P14/S0567/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P13/S1309/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P11/W2127
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P04/W0773
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P02/N0296
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P02/N0295


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 22 May 2019

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)
South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) Policies
CSEN2  -  Green Belt protection
CS1  -  Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSS1  -  The Overall Strategy
CSQ3  -  Design
CSR1  -  Housing in villages
CSH3  -  Affordable housing
CSM1  -  Transport
CSM2  -  Transport Assessments and Travel Plans

South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 (SOLP 2011) policies;
D1  -  Principles of good design
D2  -  Safe and secure parking for vehicles and cycles
D3  -  Outdoor amenity area
D4  -  Reasonable level of privacy for occupiers
G2  -  Protect district from adverse development
GB4  -  Openness of Green Belt maintained
H4  -  Housing sites in towns and larger villages outside Green Belt
T1  -  Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
T2  -  Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users
C8  -  Adverse affect on protected species
E8  -  Re-use or adaptation of rural buildings outside built up areas

South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG 2016)

Emerging Garsington Neighbourhood Plan –
Paragraph 48 of the NPPF advises that local planning authorities may give weight to 
relevant policies in emerging plans according to;
a) The stage or preparation (the more advanced its preparation, the greater the 

weight may be given);
b)  the extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies (the less
significant the unresolved objections, the greater the weight that may be given);
and
c) the degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging plan to this
Framework (the closer the policies in the emerging plan to the policies in the
Framework, the greater the weight that may be given)

The Garsington Parish Council are currently working towards the adoption of a 
neighbourhood plan. They are at the plan preparation stage and therefore it can only be 
afforded limited weight in the determination of this current application.

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 Section 70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides that the local 

planning authority shall have regard to the provisions of the Development Plan, so far 
as material to the application, and to any other material considerations. 

Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires where 
regard is to be had to the Development Plan, applications for planning permission must 
be determined in accordance with the Plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise. 

Page 62



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 22 May 2019

The relevant parts of the development plan in terms of this proposal are the overarching 
policies contained within the South Oxfordshire Core Strategy 2027 (SOCS) and the 
saved policies contained within the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 (SOLP).
The main issues to consider in relation to this proposal are:

 The principle of development.
 Affordable Housing. 
 Impact on the Green Belt.
 Impact on the character of the building.
 Parking provision.
 Amenity space and neighbour impact.
 CIL.

6.2 The fundamental aim of Green Belt policy is to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land 
permanently open.

The five purposes of the green belt are;
 to check the unrestricted urban sprawl of large built up areas;
 to prevent neighbouring towns merging into one another;
 to assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment;
 to preserve the setting and special character of historic towns; and
 to assist in urban regeneration, by encouraging the recycling of derelict and 

other urban land.

In addition there is a presumption against inappropriate development. Inappropriate 
development is, by definition, harmful to the Green Belt.  

The site is located outside of the settlement of Garsington and new dwellings would not 
be permitted by Policy CSR1 of the South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) which 
only permits redevelopment proposals within settlements. 

6.3 The NPPF advises that a local planning authority should regard the construction of new 
buildings as inappropriate development in the Green Belt except for the following 
purposes;

• Agriculture and forestry.
• Appropriate facilities for outdoor sport and outdoor recreation, for cemeteries 

and other uses of land which preserve the openness of the green belt and don’t 
conflict with the purposes of including land in it.

• The extension alteration of a building provided that it does not result in 
disproportionate additions over and above the size of the original building.

• The replacement of a building where it is in the same use as the existing and is 
not materially larger.

• Limited infilling in villages, and limited affordable housing for local community 
needs under policies set out in the Local Plan or;

• Limited infilling or partial or complete redevelopment of previously 
developed sites (brownfield land) whether redundant or in continuing use 
(excluding temporary buildings), which would not have a greater impact on the 
openness of the Green Belt and the purpose of including land within it than the 
existing development. 

6.4 As highlighted above the NPPF states that the re-use of buildings is not an 
inappropriate form of development.

Page 63



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 22 May 2019

In addition, the dormer windows shown on the plans would amount to an extension to 
the building which are not disproportionate.

Given that two residential units have been permitted in this part of the building the 
council has previously accepted the redevelopment justification and that externally the 
changes reflect what has previously been found as acceptable, I conclude that the 
principle of the development in the context of the Green Belt and the impact on 
openness are again acceptable. 

6.5 Policy E8 of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 (SOLP) relates to the conversion 
re-use of rural buildings and requires that the building is structurally sound and the 
conversion can be made without any major reconstruction, which in this case it can be. 
The policy also requires that any conversion maintains the fabric and essential 
character of the building and that it is in keeping with its surroundings.

Policy E6 of SOLP permits the change of use of rural buildings from employment use to 
other uses, provided that the existing use is no longer economically viable, and it has 
been marketed at a reasonable and realistic price for at least a year.

6.6 The loss of the B1 use and the principle of the conversion of the part of the building to 2 
units has been accepted by the council previously and remains acceptable in the 
context of increasing the number of units from 2 to 4.

Both in Green Belt policy and policies which deal with the conversion of rural buildings 
the principle of what is being proposed is acceptable in your officer’s view. 

6.7 Affordable Housing. 

Core Strategy policy CSH3 requires 40% of the total number of dwellings on the site to 
be provided as affordable housing. 

Further, paragraph 63 of the revised National Planning Policy Framework sets out that 
the new threshold from July 2018 onwards for the delivery of affordable housing within 
a development is 10 dwellings.

Therefore, an application for 4 new dwellings would normally not require an affordable 
housing allocation.

6.8 This site however also has planning approval under application P16/S2932/FUL for 10 
dwellings which includes the creation of a mezzanine floor for the provision of 8 of the 
approved 10 units to align with the existing first floor that includes the area of the 
building to which this application relates.

The subtext to Policy CSH3 is clear in my view on the matter of a divided site with 
different schemes which states;

‘Where land which is above the threshold is subdivided to create separate 
development schemes, we will consider the site as a whole and seek affordable 
housing on each part’.

6.9 The ownership of the site has changed since the 2016 planning permission for 10 units. 
Officers accept that there has been no intentional manipulation to subdivide the site in 
to smaller parcels. However, the subtext of the policy is quite clear in that if land – or in 
this case a building – is subdivided in to separate development schemes the council will 

Page 64



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 22 May 2019

consider the site as a whole and seek affordable housing on each part. In this case we 
are considering the most recent permission for 10 units.

6.10 In line with what has been set out in the subtext of the policy the council’s Housing 
Development Team have stated that they require the site’s total affordable housing 
based on 14 dwellings multiplied by the required 40% affordable housing district 
allocation. 

This would equate to 5.6 affordable homes of which normally 75% (4 units) should be 
for rent and 25% (1 unit) should be for shared ownership with the 0.6 remainder would 
be taken as a commuted sum.

Due to the location and the type of the dwellings the expectation would be for all 5.6 
dwellings to be delivered off site as a commuted sum.

6.11 In discussions with the applicants they are prepared to make a financial contribution 
toward offsite affordable housing. 

They have provided information to officers in terms of the net value of implementing the 
approved permission for 2 units and that of the proposed scheme for 4 units. 

The difference they have suggested in the net value of the two schemes is £117,000 
equating to a net profit of £182,000 for the current proposal, as opposed to a net profit 
of £65,000 in respect of the approved 2 x 3 bed scheme.

The applicants argue that in making a contribution based on the combined schemes 
equivalent to the value of 5.6 units this scheme to provide 2 more units to those which 
have already been approved is not viable. 

The applicants believe that the amount should be based on the net additional value that 
the applicant would derive from the implementation of the current application and, in 
this regard, the applicant would potentially be prepared to pay a sum equivalent to 40% 
of the additional value, equating to a contribution of £46,800 towards offsite affordable 
housing provision.

6.12 Officers have therefore had to consider that if implemented as approved there would be 
no affordable housing contribution against the situation whereby granting permission 
with the proposed contribution there would be some contribution to offsite affordable 
housing. 

In considering this argument weight must also be given against the precedent this 
would set for showing that the council accepts this type of proposition when the subtext 
of the policy is so clear.

It is also important to consider that there remain parts of the building that are so far 
undeveloped and could come forward in the future for further conversion i.e. the site 
retains the ability to be further subdivided and create even more additional units above 
that which have previously been approved and being sought in this application. 

Finally, to also weigh in the balance is that the suggested contribution would not be 
sufficient to deliver 1 affordable dwelling off site.

6.13 I conclude that this development could - if a section 106 agreement were completed - 
provide a contribution toward affordable housing. This would be a significantly reduced 
amount from what the council would normally expect. The site has a complex planning 

Page 65



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 22 May 2019

history and there has been a change ownership however these circumstances are not 
so unique that it would justify setting aside the council’s established approach. The 
justification for the amount being offered does not carry significant weight in your 
officers’ view.

Accepting a proposal that amounts to developing a site in a piecemeal fashion which 
allows for the creation of schemes that are below the affordable housing threshold or 
schemes that the council will only apply affordable housing to any additional units 
above those that have already been approved would be contrary to the clear intentions 
of the affordable housing policy.  This would potentially impact the council’s ability 
moving forward in arguing against this way of developing sites in the future. The 
consequence of this would be have a negative affect by potentially reducing the 
contributions of sites to the wider district need for affordable housing. 

Your officers cannot support this approach and the lack of affordable housing is 
contrary to adopted policy and therefore officers conclude that to the recommended 
reason for refusal. 

6.14 Impact on the character of the building.

The buildings overall character will not be materially harmed. The external alterations 
are limited and will match those which have already been accepted on the adjoining 
part of the building and in the version of the approved development which would 
provide two units in this section of the roof space. 

6.15 Parking provision.

Although the application site itself does not provide for parking there is a larger extent 
of parking available in front of the building that would be able to accommodate for an 
additional space required for the two new flats.

6.16 Amenity space and neighbour impact.

The development will not give rise to an unneighbourly impact.

There is no amenity space provided for the two dwellings. Whilst this is strictly contrary 
to the advice contained within the South Oxfordshire Design Guide this has not been 
something the council has insisted upon in any of the previous applications. This is 
because there would be a degree of harm in formalising outdoor residential space 
surrounding the building due to its overall isolated location in the countryside which 
could harm the openness of the Green Belt.

6.17 CIL.

CIL is a planning charge that local authorities can implement to help deliver 
infrastructure and to support the development of their area and is primarily calculated 
on the increase in footprint created as a result of the development. 

The applicants have confirmed on their CIL form that the part of the building the subject 
of the application has been used in its lawful use i.e. as an office in for 6 continuous 
months within the last 36 months. CIL is not therefore payable on the majority of the 
floor space being used for these four units and limited to the new 70 square metres 
which was not in office use but will be become residential. The CIL liability amount is 
£12,141.82

Page 66



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 22 May 2019

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 Although the development provides for smaller units and in all other respects is 

acceptable the piecemeal development of the site is such that affordable housing 
contributions should be made based on the larger number of 14 units rather than the 
net gain of the two additional units to that which has already been approved. The lack 
of an acceptable and secured contribution is such that planning permission should be 
refused. 

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 That planning permission is refused for the following reason;

That, in the absence of a completed S106 agreement the proposal fails to secure 
affordable housing to meet the needs of the District and as such is contrary to 
policies CSH3 of the South Oxfordshire Core Strategy and the National Planning 
Policy Framework.

Author:         Mr. P Bowers
E-mail :         paul.bowers@southandvale.gov.uk
Contact No:  01235 422600

 

Page 67

mailto:paul.bowers@southandvale.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1

Page 69

Agenda Item 12



Appendix 2

P
age 70



P
age 71



P
age 72



P
age 73



P
age 74



P
age 75



Loft
hatch

Tiled floor
Tiled floorTiled floor

Tiled floor

Heater

Heater

Concrete floor

checked and/or verified by specialist contractors where applicable.
possible or where deemed necessary. Critical drainage routes and levels should be

the permission of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery office     Crown Copyright.

inspection and interpretation. Covers have been surveyed where found and lifted where
Drainage information shown, unless otherwise stated, has been obtained solely by visual

importance to a future design, then a specialist Tree Report be commissioned.
incorrect identification, and so would strongly recommend that, should these be of
Tree descriptions are given for guidance only. We cannot accept any responsibility for

If this drawing contains digital Ordnance Survey information, it has been reproduced with
c

It should be noted that a physical boundary demarcation on site does not necessarily 
constitute a legal boundary.

Unless otherwise requested, every effort will have been made to show all visible detail on 
this survey. No responsibility can be taken for any information, critical or otherwise, that 
may have been hidden, buried or otherwise obscured at the time of our survey.

Unless specifically requested or obvious, walls or buildings will not have been checked
for verticality. Due note must be taken therefore, that walls may be uneven, both
vertically and horizontally. There may also have been limitations on access due to
existing furniture, storage, decoraton etc.

be checked or verified on site before construction commences, as assumptions or
estimates may have been made in the preparation of this drawing due to both lack
of accessibility and/or anomalies in the existing building.

All internal wall lines shown are the evident existing faces of walls, whether they are

the existence of a wall on the plan does not necessarily specify that it may be structural
or load bearing.

Floor levels must be taken as generally indicative. Unless specifically requested otherwise,
levels will be taken where easily possible, and therefore not necessarily in every room
or corridor.

THIS IS A COMPUTER MODELLED DRAWING - BEWARE OF LAYERS TURNED OFF,
FROZEN, LOCKED OR EXCLUDED FROM PRINTING.

Revision Date

2560/1/P

1:50 @ A1

Project:

Scale:

Drawing title:

Client:

Drawing Number:

Mr R Akerman

South Oxford Business Centre, Lower Road,

Land and measured building surveys

DPS Surveys

Proposed floor plan

GARSINGTON

December 2013

Revision:

Date:

Oxfordshire, RG9 1UF
Henley-on-Thames

Greys Road
Henley Enterprise Park

Tel: 01491 576751
Email: duncan@dpssurveys.com

Levels related to assumed datum -
Floor level (front main entrance) = 50.000m

Office 4, Empstead Works

Ground floor access plan

Proposed first floor plan

Lounge/dining/kitchen

Bathroom

Bedroom

Storage

Lounge/dining/kitchen
BedroomBedroom

Bathroom

Bedroom Roof
light

Roof
light

Roof
light

Roof
light

Roof
light

Roof
light

Roof
light

Roof
light

Roof
light

Roof
light

0 10

Metres

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9

Bathroom

Bathroom

P
age 76

SAV_sharone_1
Typewriter
Appendix 3



Appendix 4

P
age 77



P
age 78



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 May 2019

APPLICATION NO. P18/S3750/FUL
APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION
REGISTERED 9.11.2018
PARISH CUDDESDON
WARD MEMBER(S) Elizabeth Gillespie
APPLICANT A Shrimpton & Son
SITE Upper Farm Denton, OX449JQ
PROPOSAL Demolition of two buildings, erection of a single 

residential dwelling, garage and associated works 
(as amended by drwg nos PA01 A and PA02 A to 
site the dwelling further into the application site and 
reduce size of red line boundary received on 12 
March 2019).

OFFICER Will Darlison

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 The application is referred to planning committee because the Officer’s 

recommendation of approval conflicts with that of Cuddesdon and Denton Parish 
Council.

1.2 The application site comprises the Southern section of the farmyard of Upper Farm 
containing two modern agricultural barns and land to the East that lies to the North of 
the village of Denton. The site is accessed via a dead-end road/single track aligned 
against the Eastern boundary known as Brook Lane.

1.3 There are no listed buildings or curtilage listed buildings within the application site and 
it does not fall within a conservation area. The site, settlement and the wider area fall 
within the Oxford Green Belt.

1.4 A plan identifying the site can be found at Appendix 1 to this report.

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 The application seeks planning permission for the demolition of two modern agricultural 

buildings to be replaced with a single dwelling with a detached two bay garage with 
bike store. 

2.2 The application has been amended by the agent over the course of the determination 
period to respond to and resolve concerns from the Cuddesdon and Denton Parish 
Council. This included the reduction in the size of the red edged site area and the 
repositioning of the proposed dwelling further into the site to the South West.

2.3 Reduced copies of the plans accompanying the application can be found at Appendix 
2 to this report. All the plans and representations can be viewed on the Council’s 
website www.southoxon.gov.uk under the planning application reference number.

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
3.1 Cuddesdon Parish Council – Objection

 Overdevelopment of the site. There have been two other dwellings permitted at 
this location, both barn conversions

Page 79

Agenda Item 13

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P18/S3750/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 May 2019

 The scale of the proposed dwelling is excessive. It has two storeys and has four 
bedrooms

 The siting of the property is on Oxford Green Belt land and is not in the same 
location as the buildings to be demolished

 The road leading to the site is a narrow singe-track country lane unsuited to the 
increase in traffic which will result from further development of the site

 The access land cannot handle the construction traffic. It is in a dangerous 
condition because of damage suffered when the previous development was 
carried out

 Concerns have been raised by local residents that the vibrations of construction 
traffic have in the past and would, if approved further damage their listed 
properties

OCC Archaeological Services - No objection

Conservation Officer - No objection

OCC Highways Liaison Officer  - No objection subject to conditions

Drainage - No objection subject to conditions

Contaminated Land – No objection subject to condition

Countryside Access – No response received

Neighbour Representations - Neighbour Approve x (1)

 We welcome the prospect of this pretty house replacing the two modern barns 
that currently sit adjacent to our dwelling

 The field related to this application behind the two steel barns serve no purpose 
to the farm or as an amenity to the community in the vicinity

Neighbour Object x (6)

 The lane was not made for heavy vehicles and it cannot support any more 
development in its current state

 The lane is going to add to additional car traffic and would be too much for its 
road space, surface and structure 

 The lane has become increasingly dangerous for cars and pedestrians
 Additional development will involve heavy vehicles using the lane and in the 

past as part of implementing permitted development rights the lane was dug up, 
destroyed and not rectified

 The previous construction traffic using Brook Lane for the implementation of 
permitted development rights has not only damaged the lane but my 16th 
Century Grade II listed cottage due to the vibrations of passing heavy vehicles

 The area has in the past flooded
 The development would adversely affect and impact the character of the area 

which is one of an unspoilt rural environment
 The proposed dwelling does not appear to be sustainable housing or for local 

people
 The proposed dwelling is not a change of use and is a brand-new dwelling on a 

virgin site
 This is a hamlet with rural spaces, not a village that can sustain infill

Page 80



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 May 2019

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 P18/S1559/N4B - Approved (29/06/2018)

Conversion to dwelling.

P09/W0617/RET - Refused (24/09/2009)
Change of use from agricultural barn to B8 storage and distribution for internet based 
mail order stainless steel fastener business.

P07/W0349/AG - Other Outcome (30/04/2007)
General purpose agricultural storage buildings.

P85/N0319/O - Refused (18/09/1985) - Appeal dismissed (24/07/1986)
Erection of one dwelling;  access.

P79/N0265/O - Refused (07/06/1979) - Appeal dismissed (08/05/1980)
ERECTION OF TWO DETACHED DWELLINGHOUSES. ACCESS.

P79/N0266/O - Refused (06/06/1979) - Appeal dismissed (08/05/1980)
ERECTION OF A PAIR OF SEMI-DETACHED DWELLINGS. ACCESS.

P79/N0264/O - Refused (06/06/1979) - Appeal dismissed (08/05/1980)
ERECTION OF ONE DETACHED DWELLINGHOUSE. ACCESS.

P78/N0137/O - Refused (31/03/1978)
ERECTION OF ONE DWELLING. ACCESS.

P77/N0449/O - Refused (20/10/1977)
Erection of two dwellings.  Access.

P64/M0785 - Refused (26/11/1964)
Site for dwellings and accesses.

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 South Oxfordshire Core Strategy 2027 (SOCS) policies:

CSEN2 -  Green Belt protection
CS1 -  Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSQ3 -  Design
CSR1 -  Housing in villages
CSS1 -  The Overall Strategy

5.2 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 (SOLP) policies:
CON5 – Setting of listed buildings
CON13 -  Archaeological investigation recording & publication
D1 -  Principles of good design
D2 -  Safe and secure parking for vehicles and cycles
D3 -  Outdoor amenity area
D4 -  Reasonable level of privacy for occupiers
EP2 – Adverse affect by noise or vibration
EP8 - Contaminated land
GB4 -  Openness of Green Belt maintained
H4 -  Housing sites in towns and larger villages outside Green Belt
T1 -  Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
T2 -  Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users

Page 81

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P18/S1559/N4B
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P09/W0617/RET
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P07/W0349/AG
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P85/N0319/O
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P79/N0265/O
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P79/N0266/O
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P79/N0264/O
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P78/N0137/O
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P77/N0449/O
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P64/M0785


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 May 2019

5.3 South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG)
National Planning Policy Framework 2018 (NPPF)
National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1  The principle of the development.

 Impact on the openness and visual amenity of the Oxford Green Belt.
 Access, parking and amenity space.
 Design and appearance of the dwelling and the impact on the character of 

the wider area.
 Impact on the setting of nearby listed buildings.
 Impact on neighbours.
 Contaminated land
 Impact on drainage.
 Impact on protected species.
 Other issues.

6.2 The principle of the development. Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004 requires applications for planning permission be determined in 
accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise. 

6.3 Section 70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides that the local 
planning authority shall have regard to the provisions of the Development Plan, so far 
as material to the application, and to any other material considerations.  

6.4 Development which is not in accordance with an up-to-date development plan should 
be refused unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

6.5 Section 13 of the NPPF at paragraph 145 states that limited infilling in villages is not 
inappropriate development in the Green Belt. Policy CSR1 of the South Oxfordshire 
Core Strategy permits infill development within settlements. Upper Farm is part of a 
ribbon of development that falls outside of Denton and Policy CSR1 and paragraph 145 
of the NPPF would not apply.

6.6 There is not an existing dwelling that sits within the red edged site area for this 
application. Therefore, under different circumstances there would not be a principle 
basis by which the proposal could be justified as it would be contrary to the housing 
policies of the Council’s Development Plan. However, there are what I consider to be 
material considerations that need to be taken into account. These are in the form of the 
permitted development rights that exist at the site for the conversion of the agricultural 
barns at the site.

6.7 Currently there exists an extant prior approval for the conversion of part of the Eastern 
most of the two barns located within the application site, established under 
P18/S1559/N4B. There is also a case that has been made in the supporting Planning, 
Design and Access Statement that further units of residential accommodation could be 
added through the conversion of the rest of the Eastern most barn to create a small 
dwelling and two small dwellings created within the Western barn. This could result in 4 
dwellings within the red edged site area compared to the single dwelling proposed on 
this application. 

6.8 Whilst it should be noted that only 1 of the 4 residential units referred to in the 
paragraph above have been applied for and obtained prior approval the permitted 

Page 82



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 May 2019

development at the site in my view constitutes a material consideration for accepting 
the principle of residential development on this site, particularly in the context of the 
wider Upper Farm site. In addition, what is also to be considered is the lesser number 
of units proposed under the current application when compared to what could be, 
potentially achieved under the prior approval process.

6.9 It is worth noting that if the conversion approved under P18/S1559/N4B had been 
implemented and an application had then been submitted for its replacement it would 
have been considered against Policy H12 of the SOLP. 

6.10 Impact on the openness and visual amenity of the Oxford Green Belt. The site lies 
within the Oxford Green Belt. The fundamental aim of Green Belt policy is to prevent 
urban sprawl by keeping land permanently open. This is set out in Section 13 of the 
advice from Central Government in the National Planning Policy Framework.

6.11 The five purposes of the Green Belt are:

-  to check the unrestricted urban sprawl of large built up areas;
-  to prevent neighbouring towns merging into one another;
-  to assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment;
-  to preserve the setting and special character of historic towns; and
-  to assist in urban regeneration, by encouraging the recycling of derelict and other         
urban land. 

6.12 In addition, there is a general presumption against inappropriate development. 
Inappropriate development is, by definition, harmful to the Green Belt. ‘Very special 
circumstances’ to justify inappropriate development will not exist unless the harm by 
reason of inappropriateness and any other harm is clearly outweighed by other 
circumstances.

6.13 The NPPF advises that a local planning authority should regard the construction of new 
buildings as inappropriate development in the Green Belt except for the following 
purposes:

• Agriculture and forestry.
• Appropriate facilities for outdoor sport and outdoor recreation, for cemeteries and 
other uses of land which preserve the openness of the green belt and don’t conflict with 
the purposes of including land in it.
• The extension or alteration of a building provided that it does not result in 
disproportionate additions over and above the size of the original building.
• The replacement of a building where it is in the same use as the existing and is not 
materially larger.
• Limited infilling in villages, and limited affordable housing for local community needs 
under policies set out in the Local Plan or;
• Limited infilling or partial or complete redevelopment of previously developed sites 
(brownfield land) whether redundant or in continuing use (excluding temporary 
buildings), which would not have a greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt 
and the purpose of including land within it than the existing development. 

6.14 The proposed development does not fall within any of the above listed exceptions and 
as such is inappropriate development in the Green Belt and as established in 
paragraph 6.9 would be harmful to its openness. It would then be necessary to examine 
whether there are any very special circumstances that exist. In this respect a case has 
been made that the proposed development would result in the reduction of volume of 
built-form on the site and as such be of benefit to openness. This is on the basis that 

Page 83



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 May 2019

not only is the Eastern barn proposed to be demolished but also the Western barn as 
well. The above however would be dependent upon removing Permitted Development 
rights for the extension of the proposed dwelling and for domestic outbuildings within its 
curtilage, which shall be achieved through the attachment of restrictive conditions.

6.15 The volume of these two buildings has been verified as being 2,046 cubic metres and 
the volume of the proposed dwelling and garage comes to 1,267 cubic metres, a 
reduction of volume of some 38%. Under such circumstances, I consider that the 
proposal would result in an increase of the openness of the Oxford Green Belt and with 
the improved design of the proposal when compared to the existing barns also be an 
uplift of the visual amenity of the area. This is even with the Southern section of the 
proposed dwelling falling outside the foot print of the Eastern barn.

6.16 Access, parking and amenity space. Access - Brook Lane leading to the application 
site is a narrow one that has in the past served the agricultural barns at Upper Farm 
and it is not proposed to be altered. Comments from the Parish Council and neighbours 
have raised objections on the basis of not only the narrow nature of the access, the 
increase in traffic movements and the impacts on highway safety but also with regards 
to the poor condition of the lane and the negative impact that previous development at 
the Upper Farm site has caused.

6.17 The Highways Liaison Officer at Oxfordshire County Council was therefore consulted 
with regards to the proposed development and the impact of construction traffic and 
resulting car movements to and from the site the proposed dwelling. The Highways 
officer has no objection to the proposed development subject to the addition of two 
conditions. These conditions would require the turning and parking area to be compliant 
with sustainable drainage principles and laid out to allow for safe access into and out of 
the site as well as the retention of the garage accommodation.

6.18 Their observations on the proposed development commented on the carriageway 
characteristics being such that vehicular traffic and speeds would be low. It is therefore 
taken that this would mean that the narrow nature of the lane is not considered to be 
prejudicial to the safety of highway users

6.19 They also stated that the proposal was ‘unlikely to result in any significant intensification 
of transport activity at the property’ and that it would be ‘unlikely to have a significant 
adverse impact on the highway network.’  This is in my view realistic given the existing 
uses of the barns at the site, which includes agricultural and storage. The activities 
associated with these uses could, without any mechanism of restriction result in a large 
number of vehicle movements that would be in excess of those generated from a single 
residential dwelling. 
 

6.20 What is being proposed would in my opinion also result in less traffic movements than 
the potential permitted development position where there could be 4 dwellings on the 
site, a scenario discussed in paragraph 6.7 of this report.

6.21 Objections have been received to the proposed development related to the impact that 
construction vehicles would have on Brook Lane. I can confirm that no objection or 
comment was made by the Highways Officer questioning the ability for the lane to be 
used for the construction traffic of a single dwelling and that no request was made by 
them for a Construction Transport Management Plan to be submitted. In the absence of 
such a technical objection from the Highways Authority there would no basis to resist 
the application on this ground or impose a condition requiring a Construction Traffic 
Management Plan.

Page 84



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 May 2019

6.22 Parking - The area of gravel to the North end of the proposed dwelling would 
comfortably afford the property 3 external parking spaces. The garage building would 
supplement this with 2 further spaces. I am therefore of the view that this would be an 
acceptable level of parking provision for the proposed 4-bedroom dwelling.

6.23 Amenity space – Policy D3 of the SOLP states that an area of private outdoor garden or 
outdoor amenity space or shared amenity area shall be provided for all new dwellings. 
The SODG sets out what is adequate amounts of amenity space for proposed 
residential units based upon on the number of bedrooms.

6.24 The proposed dwelling would be sited within a plot which would afford it a level of 
private amenity garden space that is significantly in excess of the 100 square metres 
set out in the SODG for 3 + bedroom properties. Therefore, the development would not 
be cramped or an overdevelopment of the application site.

6.25 Design and appearance of the dwelling and the impact on the character of the 
wider area. The proposed development would employ an uncomplicated design 
adopting an outward appearance that would be evocative of a converted farm building 
and sympathetic to buildings that can be identified within the Denton area. It would not 
be a 2-storey dwelling but 1 and ½ storey with the corresponding lower eaves height 
that goes with it and fits with the converted farm building aesthetic. This approach 
would be bolstered further through the use of a palette of materials, which would 
include stone, red brick and timber cladding that would anchor the proposal in the 
character of the surrounding area.

6.26 The proposed dwelling would be of a position within its plot that when combined with its 
1 and ½ storey scale would mean that it would not tower over or be an imposing 
building from Brook Lane. Furthermore, there is natural screening present along the 
Eastern boundary and this would provide a level of visual screening of the dwelling from 
the lane in a similar way that it currently does for the farm buildings. This in my view 
would result in a dwelling and garage building that would assimilate well into the rural 
character of the area and not be at odds with it. The visual amenity of the site would 
certainly be increased over the existing situation as the modern agricultural barns are 
not of any architectural or historic value.

6.27 Impact on the setting of nearby listed buildings. Policy CON5 of the SOLP sets out 
that ‘proposals for development which would adversley affect the setting of a listed 
building will be refused’. Therefore consideration has to be given to the effect that the 
proposed development, including during the construction phase would have on the, 
fabric, character and setting of Appletree Cottage and Willow Cottage located South of 
the application site.

6.28 The input of the Conservation and Design team was therefore sought in order to obtain 
their assessment of the proposal’s heritage impact. Their view on both the originally 
submitted proposal and the amended one was that they did not consider that the 
application would harm the significance of heritage assets.

6.29 Impact on neighbours. Policy D4 of the SOLP states that all new dwellings should be
designed and laid out so as to secure a reasonable degree of privacy for the occupiers.
Development will not be permitted if it would unacceptably harm the amenities of
neighbouring properties through loss of privacy, daylight or sunlight or as a result of
being overbearing.

6.30 Notwithstanding the amended position of the proposed dwelling the front and rear 
elevations would continue to face East and West respectively. This would ensure that 

Page 85



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 May 2019

the windows located on these elevations face into the application site with open fields 
beyond in the case of the rear elevation and the trees and Brook Lane beyond for the 
front elevation.

6.31 The proposed North elevation of the dwelling would be located adjacent to the parking 
area. It would be set in from the edge of the site a sufficient amount to ensure that it 
would not afford unneighbourly views towards the Field Cottage and Lane House as 
well as not be overbearing, oppressive or overshadow these neighbours.

6.32 The proposed South elevation would be situated some 30 metres away from the 
Northern boundary of Appletree Cottage. This level of separation combined with the 1 
and ½ storey scale of the development is such that in my view the proposal would not 
have a negative impact upon the light, outlook or privacy of this neighbouring dwelling. 

6.33 Contaminated Land. Given the history of the application site there is a risk of 
contaminants being present in the agricultural land. This is particularly true of areas 
used as farmyards which may have contained a variety of buildings such as barns and 
workshops, and which could have been put to a number of uses including vehicle 
maintenance, chemical storage, metal working, fuel storage and animal housing. 

6.34 Aside from the presence of made ground there are a number of chemicals that could 
have been used and possibly leaked or been spilled particularly in farmyard areas.
Chemicals typically stored and used include agricultural pesticides, herbicides,
fungicides and fuel. Asbestos containing materials may be present on or in farmyard 
buildings such as barns that can have cement asbestos roofing.

6.35 The proposed residential development is regarded as a particularly sensitive use to any 
land contamination. However, consultation with the Contaminated Land Officer resulted 
in the this being satisfactorily addressed through the imposition of conditions requiring a 
phased risk assessment report to be carried out and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority.

6.36 Impact on drainage. The consultation response from the Drainage Engineer raised no 
objection to the proposed development subject to conditions requiring the submission 
of a surface water drainage scheme and a foul water drainage scheme. It is therefore 
my consideration that subject to these conditions the proposed development would not 
represent harm with regards to impact on drainage and flooding at the site.

6.37 Impact on protected species. Although the records for the site do not indicate that this
area is the habitat of protected species because of the level of demolition taking place 
discussions with the Countryside Officer took place. It was their professional opinion 
that the demolition of these two modern agricultural barns would not be likely to have a 
harmful impact upon protected species.

6.38 Other issues. The council’s CIL charging schedule has been adopted and applies to 
relevant proposals from 1 April 2016. CIL is a planning charge that local authorities can 
implement to help deliver infrastructure and to support the development of their area, 
and is primarily calculated on the increase in footprint created as a result of the 
development. In this case the CIL is liable for the creation of a new residential unit but 
the liable amount shall be offset due to the demolition of the existing floor space.

6.39 Paragraph 48 of the NPPF (2019) allows for weight to be given to relevant policies in
emerging plans, unless other material considerations indicate otherwise, and only
subject to the stage of preparation of the plan, the extent of unresolved objections and
the degree of consistency of the relevant emerging policies with the NPPF.

Page 86



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 May 2019

6.40 The site is located within the Cuddesdon and Denton Neighbourhood Plan Area and 
the Plan is currently at the plan preparation stage of the process, such that it currently 
holds limited weight in decision making. Therefore, without any settlement specific 
housing policies comments with regards to the type of house proposed not meeting 
local needs are noted but do not form a reason to refuse planning permission.

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 Officers recommend that planning permission is granted as the proposed dwelling 

represents a material reduction of volume of built-form in the Oxford Green Belt on a 
site where a residential use that could be lawfully undertaken under permitted 
development rights afforded by the extant prior approval application. These matters 
represent the very special circumstances required to outweigh the harm by reason of 
inappropriateness of the development in the Green Belt terms and its contravention of 
Development Plan housing policies.

7.2 The proposed development would be of an appropriate rural inspired design, which 
would integrate well into the site, the wider landscape and not be harmful to the setting 
of nearby listed buildings. It would not be unneighbourly and would be afforded a 
generous amount of amenity space with vehicular access and parking provided for in 
accordance with the required standards. Therefore, notwithstanding the specific 
circumstances of the site, with the attached conditions the proposal is in accordance 
with the Development Plan.

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 To grant Planning Permission subject to the following conditions:

1 : Commencement 3 yrs - Full Planning Permission
2 : Approved plans 
3 : Withdrawal of P.D. (Part 1 Class A) – No extensions
4 : Withdrawal of P.D. (Part 1 Class E) – No buildings etc
5 : Demolish existing buildings (all)
5 : Turning Area & Car Parking
6 : No Garage conversion into accommodation
7 : Surface water drainage works (details required)
8 : Foul drainage works (details required)
9 : Unsuspected Land Contamination

Author: Will Darlison
E-mail: will.darlison@southandvale.gov.uk
Contact No.: 01235 422600

 

Page 87

mailto:will.darlison@southandvale.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1

Page 89

Agenda Item 13



Appletree

1

1

6

2

4

Cottage

2 x barns

removed

New house

Garage

hedge

wall

New tree

gravel

Rolling

5 bar gate

THIS DRAWING IS THE COPYRIGHT OF GUY ROBERTS

ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE AMENDED, COPIED OR

REPRODUCED WITHOUT WRITTEN PERMISSION. NO

LIABILITY WILL BE ACCEPTED FOR AMENDMENTS MADE BY

OTHER PERSONS.

DO NOT SCALE OFF THE DRAWINGS.

scale date drawn by

project dwg. no. rev.

GUY ROBERTS R.I.B.A.

2 THE CROSSING COTTAGES

74 NETHERCOTE ROAD

TACKLEY

OXON. OX5 3AT

T: 07971 970 311

E: info@guyr.co.uk

A

PA 027299

GR02.11.181:500  @A3

SITE PLAN 

PROPOSED:

OXON 

DENTON 

UPPER FARM 

scale

0 10m 15m 20m 25m5m

Rev. Amendments to building position. 12.3.19

Appendix 2

P
age 90



Appletree

Willow

1

1

6

2

Cottage

4

Brookside

Cottage

Cottages

THIS DRAWING IS THE COPYRIGHT OF GUY ROBERTS

ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE AMENDED, COPIED OR

REPRODUCED WITHOUT WRITTEN PERMISSION. NO

LIABILITY WILL BE ACCEPTED FOR AMENDMENTS MADE BY

OTHER PERSONS.

DO NOT SCALE OFF THE DRAWINGS.

scale date drawn by

project dwg. no. rev.

GUY ROBERTS R.I.B.A.

2 THE CROSSING COTTAGES

74 NETHERCOTE ROAD

TACKLEY

OXON. OX5 3AT

T: 07971 970 311

E: info@guyr.co.uk

A

PA 017299

GR02.11.181:1250@A4

LOCATION PLAN

OXON 

DENTON 

UPPER FARM 

scale

0 10m 20m 30m 40m 50m

north

Rev. Amendments to red line. 12.3.19

Page 91



H 1 ‘1 Scale

0 4 8m 1:200@A3paper

(61 jrç ifc (LI

Drg: 4377/Building/2

Site at Upper Farm, Denton

Drawing: Existing Modern Building West

pp

November 2018

The John Phillips Planning Consultancy
Bagley Croft, Hinksey Hill

Oxford, OX1 5BD
Tel: 01865 326823

Email: planning@jppc.co.uk

P
age 92



c
x

>
:

c
c

-

‘
-

C
)

C
J

Q
=

U
,

C
O

I
J

:

C
)

L
i!

-

C

aI:
a

0
—

w
1—

Q
-

H
-=

N
-

D
)

o
:

0
c
)

‘
<

—
)

-
C

u
.

I
G

)

J
o

0
U

)

%
?

V

]LE
LILi

L
)

a)0a)0

G
)

—0C
/
)EcD

P
age 93



Kitchen

Living / Dining

Study

Utility

Larder

scale

0 1m 2m 3m 4m 5m0.5m

THIS DRAWING IS THE COPYRIGHT OF GUY ROBERTS

ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE AMENDED, COPIED OR

REPRODUCED WITHOUT WRITTEN PERMISSION. NO

LIABILITY WILL BE ACCEPTED FOR AMENDMENTS MADE BY

OTHER PERSONS.

DO NOT SCALE OFF THE DRAWINGS.

scale date drawn by

project dwg. no. rev.

GUY ROBERTS R.I.B.A.

2 THE CROSSING COTTAGES

74 NETHERCOTE ROAD

TACKLEY

OXON. OX5 3AT

T: 07971 970 311

E: info@guyr.co.uk

PA037299

GR02.11.181:100 @A3

GROUND FLOOR

PROPOSED:

OXON 

DENTON 

UPPER FARM 

P
age 94



Bed 2

Bed 4

Bed 3

Bed 1

Ensuite

Ensuite

Bathroom

1500mm head ht.

1500mm head ht.

1
5
0
0
m

m
 
h
e
a
d
 
h
t
.

1
5
0
0
m

m
 
h
e
a
d
 
h
t
.

A A

B

B

scale

0 1m 2m 3m 4m 5m0.5m

THIS DRAWING IS THE COPYRIGHT OF GUY ROBERTS

ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE AMENDED, COPIED OR

REPRODUCED WITHOUT WRITTEN PERMISSION. NO

LIABILITY WILL BE ACCEPTED FOR AMENDMENTS MADE BY

OTHER PERSONS.

DO NOT SCALE OFF THE DRAWINGS.

scale date drawn by

project dwg. no. rev.

GUY ROBERTS R.I.B.A.

2 THE CROSSING COTTAGES

74 NETHERCOTE ROAD

TACKLEY

OXON. OX5 3AT

T: 07971 970 311

E: info@guyr.co.uk

PA 047299

GR02.11.181:100@A3

FIRST  FLOOR

PROPOSED:

OXON 

DENTON 

UPPER FARM 

P
age 95



SOUTH

EAST

Plain clay tiles

Soft stone

Red brickTimber cladding

Red brick

scale

0 1m 2m 3m 4m 5m0.5m

THIS DRAWING IS THE COPYRIGHT OF GUY ROBERTS

ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE AMENDED, COPIED OR

REPRODUCED WITHOUT WRITTEN PERMISSION. NO

LIABILITY WILL BE ACCEPTED FOR AMENDMENTS MADE BY

OTHER PERSONS.

DO NOT SCALE OFF THE DRAWINGS.

scale date drawn by

project dwg. no. rev.

GUY ROBERTS R.I.B.A.

2 THE CROSSING COTTAGES

74 NETHERCOTE ROAD

TACKLEY

OXON. OX5 3AT

T: 07971 970 311

E: info@guyr.co.uk

PA067299

GR02.11.181:100  @A3

ELEVATIONS 2/2

PROPOSED:

OXON 

DENTON 

UPPER FARM 

P
age 96



EAST NORTH

WEST SOUTH

Timber cladding

Red brick

Plain clay tiles

Timber cladding

Red brick

Plain clay tiles

scale

0 1m 2m 3m 4m 5m0.5m

THIS DRAWING IS THE COPYRIGHT OF GUY ROBERTS

ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE AMENDED, COPIED OR

REPRODUCED WITHOUT WRITTEN PERMISSION. NO

LIABILITY WILL BE ACCEPTED FOR AMENDMENTS MADE BY

OTHER PERSONS.

DO NOT SCALE OFF THE DRAWINGS.

scale date drawn by

project dwg. no. rev.

GUY ROBERTS R.I.B.A.

2 THE CROSSING COTTAGES

74 NETHERCOTE ROAD

TACKLEY

OXON. OX5 3AT

T: 07971 970 311

E: info@guyr.co.uk

PA077299

GR02.11.181:100  @A3

GARAGE

PROPOSED:

OXON 

DENTON 

UPPER FARM 

P
age 97



NORTH

WEST SECTION A-A

SECTION B-B

Timber cladding

Red brick

Plain clay tiles

Soft stone

Timber cladding

Red brickRed brick

Plain clay tiles

scale

0 1m 2m 3m 4m 5m0.5m

THIS DRAWING IS THE COPYRIGHT OF GUY ROBERTS

ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE AMENDED, COPIED OR

REPRODUCED WITHOUT WRITTEN PERMISSION. NO

LIABILITY WILL BE ACCEPTED FOR AMENDMENTS MADE BY

OTHER PERSONS.

DO NOT SCALE OFF THE DRAWINGS.

scale date drawn by

project dwg. no. rev.

GUY ROBERTS R.I.B.A.

2 THE CROSSING COTTAGES

74 NETHERCOTE ROAD

TACKLEY

OXON. OX5 3AT

T: 07971 970 311

E: info@guyr.co.uk

PA057299

GR02.11.181:100 @A3

ELEVATIONS 1/2

PROPOSED:

OXON 

DENTON 

UPPER FARM 

P
age 98



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 22 May 2019

APPLICATION NO. P19/S0171/RM
APPLICATION TYPE RESERVED MATTERS
REGISTERED 23.1.2019
PARISH SOUTH STOKE
WARD MEMBER(S) Maggie Filipova-Rivers
APPLICANT Annington Development Limited
SITE Land at Woodcote Road South Stoke, RG8 0JJ
PROPOSAL Reserved matters application (for the appearance, 

landscaping, layout, and scale) following Outline 
approval P17/S3206/O for a residential development 
of up to 5 dwellings, and associated works, including 
access. 

In addition to discharge conditions 5- landscaping, 
6- tree protection, 7- biodiversity mitigation and 
enhancement strategy, 11- construction traffic 
management, 13- refuse and recycling storage and 
16- construction method statement.

OFFICER David Millinship

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 The application has been referred to planning committee due to conflict between the 

Officer’s recommendation and the views of the parish council (objections due to the 
housing mix, design and landscape impact).

1.2 The site is to the south of Woodcote Road on the edge of South Stoke.  Appendices 
1 and 2 provide a site location and context plan.  South Stoke is a small village 
between Wallingford and Goring, and sits within the River Thames corridor that runs to 
the west of the village.  The village and application site are washed over by the 
Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB), but there are no other planning 
designations or constraints that affect the site.   

1.3 Outline planning permission was granted by Planning Committee in January 2018 for 
the erection of up to 5 dwellings. All matters were kept in reserve except for details of 
the site access that were approved through the outline planning permission. 

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 The proposal seeks to secure approval of the remaining reserved matters for 

appearance, landscaping, layout, and scale. Details have also been submitted to 
partially discharge several conditions of the outline permission. 

2.2 The reserved matters details have been submitted for the construction of 5 detached 
and semi-detached dwellings comprising:

 Plot 1 –3 bedroom detached with integral double garage (north-west area of the 
site);

 Plot 2 – 2 bedroom semi-detached (north-east area of the site);
 Plot 3 – 3 bedroom semi-detached (north-east area of the site);
 Plot 4 – 4 bedroom detached with integral double garage (south-west area of 

the site); and

Page 99

Agenda Item 14

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P19/S0171/RM


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 22 May 2019

 Plot 5 – 5 bedroom detached with integral double garage (south-east area of the 
site). 

2.3 The houses would be of varied design generally finished with contemporary 
architectural features using predominantly facing brick and timber cladding for the walls 
with a mixture of clay and slate tile roofs. Windows and doors would be installed in a 
grey composite with some timber framing in a modern design. The external parking and 
turning areas would be a mixture of gravel, block paving and flagstones. The site would 
be enclosed along the northern, eastern and southern intervening boundaries by a 
mixture of retained mature trees, new native hedging and post and 1.2 metre high post 
and rail fences. The western intervening boundary (shared with neighbouring 
residential properties) would comprise a 1.8 metre high timber close board fence with 
native tree and hedge planting within the site. 

2.4 Details have also been submitted to discharge the following conditions:
 5- landscaping (details of hard-surfacing and planting);
 6- tree protection; 
 7- biodiversity mitigation and enhancement strategy;  
 11- construction traffic management;
 13- refuse and recycling storage; 
 14- fire hydrants; and 
 16- construction method statement.

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
3.1

3.2

South Stoke Parish Council – Objection.
 The dwellings to the front of the site are so close to the tree line that full root 

protection measure cannot be utilised. 
 Plot 4 is closer and more overbearing on Clogwyn Mawr than previously shown 

as a result of the larger footprint houses, blocking out all sun for significant parts 
of the year. Inspection of the plans submitted for this application show Glazed 
door to garage of Plot 4 and inconsistencies between plan and elevations on 
plot 4 facing bungalow Clogwyn Mawr and a window overlooking the bungalow.

 The proposal requires the removal of the tree at the entrance. This was raised 
by the forestry officer at the time of the outline application but was assured that 
the tree would not be further impacted than at present. The tree in question has 
been removed, prior to any approval of planning application. TPOs must be put 
on the tree screen protect the future of the AONB. 

 The houses are shown as circa 9m high which will have an unnecessary impact 
on the view from the AONB, 7m would be sufficient for 1.5 storey houses which 
would be more in keeping with the surrounding houses in South Stoke Village

 This building footprint does not reflect a rural layout of houses on this edge of 
village location within the AONB, the revised footprint is greatly increased over 
and above the plans in P17/S3206/O.

 Housing need over-provides 4-plus bedroom homes. Reduction in size of 
homes would ease building footprint issues. SSPC conducted a Housing Needs 
Survey in Summer 2017, this showed a need for 2 and 3 bedroom homes, with 
no need for 4 or 5 bedroom homes. A subsequent Housing Needs survey is 
currently being conducted, the results of which are being analysed at the time of 
submission. 

 This area has glow worms, no mitigation has been provided for the protection of 
these in the current application.

OCC Archaeological Services – No objection.
 There are currently no known archaeological constraints to this development.

Page 100



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 22 May 2019

3.3

3.4

3.5

3.6

3.7

Countryside Officer  – No objection.
 The habitats on site are not considered to be a constraint to development and 

boundary trees are to be retained, with additional planting proposed. 
 The ecological surveys found no evidence of any protected species on site, and 

recommendations are made for working methods and faunal enhancements to 
the site. 

 As such, on balance and subject to the recommended condition below, I am 
satisfied that the proposed development would not adversely impact any priority

 habitats or any protected species, and would not result in a net loss of 
biodiversity resource.

 Monitoring condition is recommended. 

Drainage – Holding objection. 
 Additional information originally requested to satisfy outline condition no. 8 but, 

discharge of drainage details subsequently withdrawn by the applicant as further 
investigation is required. 

 
Forestry Officer – No Objection.
 Some initial concern was raised over the tree data in the original survey being 

inaccurate. A revised tree survey was submitted, and it was accepted that the 
proposed layout would allow sufficient space for the existing trees to be 
protected and retained and to accommodate their future growth potential. 

 The proposed landscaping scheme will help to secure the long-term tree cover 
around the perimeters of the site. The amount of hard surfacing proposed 
internally within the development seems excessive, but the amount of proposed 
planting will go some way to soften it. If the extent of hard surfacing could be 
reduced an improved landscaping scheme could be achieved. 

 For any changes in the layout, amended tree protection information will be 
needed.

OCC Highways Liaison Officer– No response. 

Neighbour responses – four letters of objection have been received from third parties 
living in proximity to the site. Objections raised are summarised as follows:
 Plot 4 adjacent to the neighbouring house at Clogwyn Mawr would be too close 

to the neighbouring boundary and would cause a loss of light, loss of outlook 
and loss of privacy. It would be overbearing and the house should be moved 
further away from the boundary, be screened by a more natural boundary 
enclosure and be a bungalow (or one and a half storey building). Any windows 
facing the neighbouring property should be obscured;

 The outline planning approval does not mean that there has to be 5 homes. At 
outline stage it was indicated that a lesser number of homes may need to be 
considered if the proposed plans materially impact the amenity of neighbouring 
properties. There is a strong case for this when considering the impact on 
Clogwyn Mawr.

 The housing mix has changed since the outline planning stage with the 
developer pressing for larger homes than was previously proposed. The Parish 
Council has identified an urgent need for two bedroom homes. There is no 
evidence that the developer has consulted with the Parish Council or local 
community in this regard and the proposal and does not reflect village needs.

 Several prominent and healthy trees have been felled (in breach of the outline 
planning permission) and greater protection needs to be given to the remaining 
tree line in order to protect the aider AONB. This is especially important as there 
is only limited protection of the trees beyond the development phase. There is 
nothing at present to stop a subsequent purchaser of a property from removing 

Page 101



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 22 May 2019

trees to improve views or to increase the amount of sunlight into that property. 
Preservation of the treeline was a material consideration of the South Stoke 
Parish Council during the outline planning stage.  

 The proposed designs do not reflect the small rural village character of the 
surroundings. The design appears to be based on similar sized sites in larger 
villages and urban areas rather than small villages. Design cues would be better 
taken from recent developments within the village and single level or 1.5 level 
dwellings would be more in keeping with the adjacent homes and wider village.    

 No regard has been had to key requirements of the Chilterns Building Design 
Guide, which should be a material consideration for developments on AONB 
sites such as this. 

 The site would be an extension of the village into the AONB. 

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 P17/S3206/O - Approved (18/01/2018)

Residential development (up to 5 dwellings), and associated works, including 
access.(as amplified & amended by information received 13 November 2017).

P86/W0322/O - Refused (07/07/1986)
Single dwelling with garage; access.

P72/H0133 - Refused (16/10/1972)
Site for dwellinghouse to be used in conjunction with the land as an agricultural holding.

P56/H0351 - Approved (27/07/1956)
Site for dwellinghouse to be used in conjunction with the land as an agricultural holding.

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 Development Plan:

Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires 
applications for planning permission be determined in accordance with the 
Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. Section 70 (2) of 
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides that the local planning authority shall 
have regard to the provisions of the Development Plan, so far as material to the 
application, and to any other material considerations. The council’s adopted 
development plan comprises the South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) and the 
saved policies of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan (SOLP).

South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) policies:
 CS1 – Presumption in favour of sustainable development;
 CSS1 – Overall strategy;
 CSEN1 – Landscape;
 CSH4 – Meeting housing needs;
 CSR1 – Housing in villages; 
 CSQ3 – Quality of design;
 CSB1 – Conservation and improvement of biodiversity.

South Oxfordshire Local Plan (SOLP) policies:
 C4 – The landscape setting of settlements;
 C6 – Biodiversity conservation;
 C8 – Protected species;
 C9 – Landscape features;
 D1 – Quality of design;
 D2 – Vehicle and cycle parking;
 D3 – Plot coverage and garden areas;

Page 102

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P17/S3206/O
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P86/W0322/O
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P72/H0133
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P56/H0351


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 22 May 2019

 D4 – Privacy and daylight;
 D10 – Waste management;
 EP1 – Polluting emissions;
 EP2 – Noise and vibrations;
 EP3 – Light pollution;
 EP6 – Surface water management;
 G2 - Protection and enhancement of the environment;
 G4 – Development in the countryside and on the edge of settlements;
 H4 – Housing in villages;
 T1 and T2 – Transport requirements for new developments. 

5.2 Neighbourhood Plan:
 South Stoke Parish Council are currently not preparing a neighbourhood plan. 

5.3 Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents:
 South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG 2016).

5.4 National Planning Policy:
 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF);
 National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG).

5.5 Third party guidance:
 South Stoke Housing Developments - Development Survey Analysis & 

Implications;
 South Stoke Housing Survey – July/August 2017;
 Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty Management Plan 2014-2019;
 Chilterns Building Design Guide (February 2010);
 Landscape Character Assessment for the Local Plan 2033 (November 2017).

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 The outline planning permission granted in January 2018 (ref: P17/S3206/O) has 

established both the principle of the residential development (for up to five dwellings) 
and the location and design of the site access. As such, there is no requirement for me 
to re-assess the principle of the development. The main issues to take into account are 
as follows:

 Whether the reserved matters details comply with the parameters of the 
development established at outline stage;

 Assessment of the appearance, landscaping, layout and scale with 
regards to:
- The impact on the special character of the AONB;
- The character and appearance of the site and street scene;
- Provision of parking and turning areas;
- Impact on neighbouring amenities.

 Assessment of the details submitted to partially discharge the relevant 
conditions (not assessed in line with the reserved matters):
- Biodiversity mitigation and enhancement strategy;  
- Construction management;
- Refuse and recycling storage. 

6.2
Compliance with outline planning permission
The reserved matters are for the construction of 5 dwellings (three detached and a pair 
of semi-detached buildings). Conditions 3 and 4 of the outline planning permission 
sought to restrict the maximum number of dwellings to be constructed to five and also 
sought to secure an appropriate market housing mix. The detailed scheme is for five 

Page 103



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 22 May 2019

dwellings with a mixture of 1 no. 2-bedroom dwelling, 2 no. 3-bedroom dwellings, 1 no. 
4-bedroom dwelling and 1 no. 5-bedroom dwelling. 

6.3 The scheme is not considered to be of a large enough scale to be required (by policy) 
to provide dedicated affordable units (and as such no conditions or legal agreements 
were sought at outline planning stage). At outline planning stage an indicative housing 
mix was put forward (2 2-beds, 1 3-bed and 2 4+ bedroom dwellings). The proposed 
housing mix differs from the indicative mix given at outline stage and I note a number of 
objections to this (particularly with regards to the lack of dedicated affordable units). 
Condition 4 attached to the outline permission sought to secure only an ‘appropriate 
market housing mix’, with no links to local needs, district wide needs or specific 
numbers of house types. SOCS policy CSH4 defines a broad approach to housing mix 
but, does not place specific requirements on small-scale developments. Therefore I 
must rely on other evidence available to me. 

6.4 I have had regards to the Oxfordshire Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA), 
the South Stoke Housing Developments - Development Survey Analysis & Implications 
(SSHD) and the South Stoke Housing Survey – July/August 2017 (SSHS) as the latest 
evidence of housing need in the area. Whilst I note the Parish Council’s objection, the 
evidence within the SSHD and SSHS does not entirely support the need for solely 
smaller units in the village. The 2017 SSHS suggests there are local residents who 
would be interested in upsizing and downsizing. The earlier SSHD also illustrates 
greater support for smaller/starter homes and family homes with less local support for 
larger houses to be provided but, the definitions of what constitute ‘family homes’ or 
‘larger homes’ are not clear. The proposal does present a mixture of housing types that 
would appear to suit the broad needs of the area. Given the small-scale of the scheme I 
consider the current proposal represents an appropriate market housing mix and I have 
no strong evidence to reach an alternative conclusion. 

6.5 Overall, I consider the proposal is within the parameters established at outline planning 
permission stage and does not conflict with current planning policy relating to housing 
mix. 

6.6
Impact on the special character of the AONB
The site is within the Chilterns AONB which, in planning policy terms, secures the 
highest level of landscape protection (NPPF para.172). The AONB is a predominantly 
rural area defined by its high level of scenic beauty and tranquil rural character. New 
development is strictly controlled, particularly where there would be adverse impacts on 
the landscape and character of the area. SOCS policy CSEN1(ii) states that high 
priority will be given to conservation and enhancement of the Chilterns and North
Wessex Downs Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONBs) and planning decisions 
will have regard to their setting

6.7 Within the South Oxfordshire Landscape Character Assessment (2017) (LCA) the 
village of South Stoke is defined as being within the River Thames Corridor (Flat 
floodplain pasture character sub-area) with the open countryside to the east of the 
village as within the Central Vale Fringes (Open rolling downs sub-area). The site is 
currently open field although bounded by mature trees and shrubs. The countryside to 
the east and north is very open with sparse field boundaries. At outline planning stage 
the officer’s view was that the proposal would not result in significant landscape harm, 
subject to appropriate conditions, as the proposal made use of an existing well-
screened parcel of land. It was also stated that future reserved matters submissions 
should follow the broad recommendations of the draft LCA. 

Page 104



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 22 May 2019

6.8 For the River Thames Corridor character area, the LCA recommends the following:

 Minimise the visual impact of intrusive land uses at the fringes of towns, villages 
and farms with the judicious planting of tree and shrub species characteristic of 
the area. This will help to screen the development and integrate it more 
successfully with its surrounding countryside;

 Maintain the nucleated pattern of settlements, and promote the use of building 
materials to maintain vernacular style and a scale of development and that are 
appropriate to River Thames Corridor (see also the South Oxfordshire Design 
Guide, November 2016);

 Protect the sparsely settled character of the landscape and the integrity and 
vernacular character of the estate villages.

The LCA recommends the following for the Central Vale Fringes character area:

 Minimise the visual impact of intrusive land uses at the fringes of towns and 
villages with the judicious planting of tree and shrub species characteristic of the 
area. This will help to screen the development and integrate it more successfully 
with its surrounding countryside;

 Maintain the nucleated pattern of settlements, and promote the use of building 
materials to maintain vernacular style and a scale of development and that are 
appropriate to Central Vale Fringes. 

6.9 In this case, the site is already bounded by an established mature tree line and the 
applicant proposes to add to this through the implementation of a site planting scheme. 
The district council’s Forestry Officer has confirmed that the proposed planting scheme 
will help to secure the long-term tree cover around the perimeters of the site but, raised 
some initial concerns with regards to conflicting tree survey data and the proposed site 
layout (particularly trees T27 and T28 and the location of plot 1). The applicant has 
confirmed the tree canopy locations through a revised tree survey and no further 
objections have been raised providing the tree protection measures are secured prior to 
commencement of the development. I also consider that householder permitted 
development rights should be removed as this would prevent future uncontrolled 
development (potentially rear and side extensions and outbuildings) being constructed 
within the RPAs of trees to be retained (this would also prevent potential increased 
impacts on neighbours and future occupiers of the scheme). 

6.10 Several objections have been made with regards to the premature removal of trees 
adjacent to the main site access and there is concern that further tree protection 
(through a tree protection order) is required to preserve the mature tree-lined 
boundaries and the visual screening they secure. As stated above, tree protection 
measures have been proposed to ensure that existing trees are protected during the 
construction period and it has been confirmed by the district council’s Forestry Officer 
that the details are acceptable. As such, it would seem unreasonable to attempt to 
secure further formal protection (and in any case the retention of the mature trees 
would be linked to the site landscaping scheme condition). Some concern has also 
been raised that there will be pressure for trees to be felled by future occupiers of the 
site in order to secure improvements to daylight and outlook. The proposed site layout 
suggests to me that occupiers of the new dwellings would have sufficient access to 
daylight and open garden areas that would not be overshadowed. I acknowledge that 
some overshadowing of the rear gardens of plots 4 and 5 may occur during the earlier 
hours of the day but this is unlikely to be severe and I am satisfied future pressure to 
feel the trees would not be significant. 

Page 105



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 22 May 2019

6.11 The proposed buildings would be partially visible within the local street scape and 
possibly within the wider landscape (particularly during winter months). The new 
dwellings would be predominantly two storey buildings with some single storey 
projections. Some objections have been made due to the relationship the proposed two 
storey buildings would have with the adjacent bungalows at Clogwyn Mawr and 
Summerfield to the west (it is suggested the dwellings should be single storey). I 
acknowledge that the proposed dwellings would be taller than the directly adjacent 
dwellings but, in terms of the general scale of buildings in the street scene I consider 
the existing bungalows are not prominent buildings (they are screened in most views 
along Woodcote Road) and do not represent the predominant type of dwelling in the 
wider village. The majority of (much more visible) buildings in the street scene are two-
storey and I do not consider there is justification on visual impact grounds to secure 
single storey (to one-and-a-half storey) buildings at this site. No restrictions to the 
overall heights of buildings were imposed at outline planning stage to justify such a 
requirement. 

6.12 The proposed materials palette and design approach, that incorporates some 
architectural features common to rural buildings in an overall contemporary 
development, would minimise potential harm to the wider AONB and impact on the 
street scene in the locality. The buildings would be laid out in a courtyard development 
echoing modern barn conversion developments commonly seen at edge-of-village 
locations. Some concern has been raised over the amount of hard-surfaced areas but, 
in my view subject to securing appropriate natural materials (where possible) I do not 
consider this would be harmful. I also consider that details of any external lighting 
should be secured in order to ensure light spillage into the AONB is kept to a minimum. 
There are some larger windows facing east and south (outwards into the AONB). The 
adjacent trees to be retained would screen much of the light spill from internal living 
areas but, external lighting could have a more severe effect so should be controlled. 

6.13 Boundary enclosures would be comprised of post and rail fencing infilled with native 
hedge planting along the north, east and southern intervening boundaries (shared with 
open countryside). A feather-edged timber fence would be installed along the eastern 
intervening boundary shared with the more suburban built-up area of the village. 
Generally, I consider the proposed boundary enclosures would help to preserve the 
setting of the site and wider village within the rural landscape whilst securing some 
privacy between the site and adjacent dwellings. The use of feather-edged timber 
fencing along the eastern boundary is considered to be acceptable in visual impact 
terms as the character of the village to the east is more suburban and feather-edged 
fencing is not an uncommon feature within the village. 

6.14 At this edge of village location, I consider the design approach is acceptable and 
subject to the recommended conditions no harm would be caused to the special 
landscape characteristics of the AONB. I therefore consider the details relating to 
landscaping, appearance, scale and layout are acceptable and would conserve the 
special landscape character of the AONB, the setting of the village within the rural 
landscape and the character and appearance of the site within the street scene in line 
with the aims of SOCS CSEN1 and SOLP policies C4, C9, D1, G2 and G4. 

6.15
Parking and turning areas
The proposed layout incorporates off-road parking areas in excess of those required 
under the county council’s guidance (including the garage spaces proposed). Further to 
this each plot would have off-road turning areas with a larger shared turning area 
forming the central area of the courtyard layout. I am satisfied sufficient parking and 
turning areas can be provided and no further planning control is required (over and 
above that secured through the outline planning permission). 

Page 106



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 22 May 2019

6.16
Impact on neighbours
The site is currently an open field. Some tree screening exists along the site boundaries 
this is currently limited along the eastern boundary shared with the closest neighbouring 
properties. The neighbouring dwelling at Clogwyn Mawr is a bungalow with several east 
facing windows that currently overlook the south-western area of the site (where plot 4 
would be constructed). The construction of the dwellings, particularly plot 4, will result in 
impacts on the amenities of the occupiers of Clogwyn Mawr (and to a lesser extent the 
occupiers of Summerfield to the north-west). For this impact to be acceptable it must be 
considered the development would not give rise to any unacceptable harm. 
 

6.17 The district council’s adopted design guidance SODG 2016 sets out certain separation 
distances that should be achieved if good levels of residential amenities are to be 
secured/preserved between occupiers of adjacent buildings. For the most part these 
separation distances are important to prevent harmful overlooking being created 
between adjacent buildings with secondary issues being the preservation of daylight 
and preventing an overbearing impact on neighbouring outlook. Separation distances 
between plot 1, plot 4 and the neighbouring bungalow at Summerfield are sufficient and 
any views created would not be direct due to the layout of the respective buildings. 
However, in this case, it would appear the east facing elevation of the closest 
neighbouring dwelling at Clogwyn Mawr is possibly the rear elevation (although it may 
be a side elevation as the internal layout and fenestration layouts of the elevations 
make this unclear). Assuming a rear-to-side relationship would be created the between 
Clogwyn Mawr and plot 4 the separation distances would be marginally substandard. 
This suggests to me that some harm to the outlook from the neighbouring property 
would be caused. 

6.18 The main house at plot 4 would be constructed in a split-level design with a hipped side 
gable and two storey front elevation dropping to a 1.5 storey elevation (with small 
projecting dormers) at the rear. The garage that would project to the front of plot 4 
would also be single storey with a dual-pitched roof sloping away from the neighbouring 
boundary. Due to the location of the dwelling at plot 4 to the north-east of Clogwyn 
Mawr I am satisfied that day light would generally be preserved. Clogwyn Mawr would 
receive the same levels of day light during the earlier hours of the day as the current 
situation allows and there would be no overshadowing during the later hours of the day 
(in any case the existing trees to be retained will cast a much larger shadow over the 
neighbouring dwelling, particularly during summer months). 

6.19 Privacy would also be preserved as no first-floor windows are proposed that would 
directly overlook the neighbouring dwelling and one window at ground floor level would 
be obscured, serving a WC, and would be screened by boundary fencing. Views from 
rear facing windows of plot 4 may cause some overlooking of the garden at Clogwyn 
Mawr but, these views would be over very obtuse angles and would be screened by 
existing trees so would not be harmful. I am mindful of the currently very private and 
open outlook that is enjoyed by the occupiers of Clogwyn Mawr but, I consider on 
balance that the cumulative impact of the construction of plot 4 on the residential 
amenities available to the neighbouring occupiers would not be unacceptably harmful. 

6.20 Planning conditions can restrict permitted development rights for the creation of new 
windows and doors to protect neighbour privacy and remove PD rights for extensions to 
the dwellings to limit potential future impacts on neighbouring amenities and the 
amenities of future occupiers of the adjacent plots. As such, I am satisfied the 
development would not cause unacceptable harm to neighbouring residential amenities 
so does not conflict with the aims of SOCS policies CSQ3 and CSR1 or SOLP policies 
H4, D1, D3 and D4. 

Page 107



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 22 May 2019

6.21
Biodiversity mitigation and enhancement strategy
The application is supported by a preliminary ecological appraisal (secured by condition 
7 of the outline permission). The district council’s Countryside Officer has assessed this 
document and has concluded the habitats on site are not considered to be a constraint 
to development. The ecological surveys found no evidence of any protected species on 
site, and recommendations are made for working methods, the retention of existing 
trees and faunal enhancements to the site. As such, subject to a condition to secure 
compliance with the recommendations in the ecological appraisal, I am satisfied that 
the proposal would not adversely impact any priority habitats or protected species and 
would not result in a net loss of biodiversity resource. The development therefore 
complies with SOCS policy CSB1 and SOLP policies C6 and C8. 

6.22
Construction and traffic management
A construction method statement and construction traffic plan have been submitted to 
satisfy conditions 11 and 16 of the outline planning permission. The construction 
method statement details that the central area of the site (to be finished as the hard-
surfaced courtyard turning area) would be the main compound area for the site with 
materials storage, site office and contractor parking all continued outside of the tree 
protection areas. A wheel wash would be provided at the site access. The document 
also details the various methods of controlling construction noise and dust and I am 
satisfied the proposed methods with offer a good level of mitigation. 
 

6.23 The construction traffic management plan details that construction vehicles will 
approach the development site from the west, via Woodcote Road. Woodcote Road 
connects to the B4009 (Wallingford Road), which in turn connects to the A4130, 
providing a direct link to the A34, for vehicles arriving from the north and the south. The 
A34 provides a connection to the M4 to the south and the A40, A44 and M40 to the 
north. It is proposed to erect appropriate signage to instruct construction and delivery 
vehicles of the direction to take, to and from the development site. All signage related to 
the construction works will be maintained and regularly inspected. The operating hours 
of the site will be between 08:00 to 18:00 from Monday to Friday and 08:00 to 13:00 on 
a Saturday. No works will be undertaken on Sundays and Bank Holidays without prior 
approval.  Deliveries during the morning and afternoon peak traffic times will be avoided 
where possible.
 

6.24 On balance, I am satisfied the submitted documents detail sufficient measures to 
mitigate for the environmental and traffic impacts of the construction of the 
development. The development therefore complies with the aims of SOCS policy CSM1 
and policies EP1, T1 and T2 of the SOLP. 

6.25
Refuse and recycling storage
Information has been submitted to demonstrate that sufficient areas for the storage of 
domestic refuse and recycling bins can be provided within each plot. Bins may need to 
be moved to the fronts of the plots for collection, but the distances are relatively short. A 
swept path analysis has also been submitted detailing how a refuse vehicle would enter 
and exit the site in a forward gear. The central courtyard area would provide sufficient 
space for a refuse vehicle to turn. Operatives would also not be required to travel long 
distances to collect the refuse. As such, I am satisfied the site layout allows for 
sufficient refuse storage and collection arrangements to be achieved. 

6.26
Fire hydrants and drainage
Details relating to drainage and fire hydrant matters were initially submitted (to satisfy 
outline planning conditions 8 and 14) but, due to the requirement for further 
investigations and submission of additional technical information relating to surface 

Page 108



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 22 May 2019

water drainage tests and fire hydrant specifications these details have been removed 
from the current application. 

6.27
Other matters
The council’s CIL charging schedule applies to relevant proposals from 1 April 2016. 
CIL is a planning charge that local authorities can implement to help deliver 
infrastructure and to support the development of their area. It is primarily calculated on 
the increase in footprint created as a result of new development. Outline planning 
permissions are not CIL liable but, in this case CIL is liable for the gross internal floor 
space that would be created in the event the reserved matters are approved.  

6.28 NPPF Paragraph 38 details the need for Local planning authorities to approach 
planning decisions in a positive and creative way, using the full range of planning tools 
available and working proactively with applicants to secure developments that will 
improve the economic, social and environmental conditions of the area. The proposal is 
considered to be in accordance with the development plan and is considered to be a 
sustainable form of development.

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 Officers recommend that planning permission is granted because the reserved matters 

details and additional details submitted to discharge conditions 5, 6, 7, 11, 13 and 16 of 
outline planning permission ref: P17/S3206/O would result in a development that would 
preserve the character and appearance of the street scene, landscape setting of the 
rural village and landscape character of the wider Chilterns AONB. Further to this, the 
development would not give rise to unacceptable harm to neighbouring residential 
amenities and sufficient mitigation can be secured to minimise impacts on protected 
species, the local environment and highways network during construction. The reserved 
matters therefore remain in accordance with the relevant development plan policies and 
subject to the recommended conditions it would be a sustainable form of development.

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 Planning permission is granted subject to the following conditions

1. Commencement reserved matters approval;
2. Approved plans;
3. Schedule of materials;
4. Planting scheme completed prior to occupation;
5. Development completed in accordance with ecology survey 

recommendations;
6. Removal of PD for additional doors and windows in west facing elevations 

of plot 1 and plot 4;
7. Removal of householder PD rights (Classes A-F);
8. External lighting details.

Notes:
1. Outline planning conditions note. 

Author:         David Millinship
E-mail :         david.millinship@southandvale.gov.uk
Contact No:  01235 422600

Page 109

mailto:david.millinship@southandvale.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1

P
age 111

A
genda Item

 14



P19/S0171/RM – APPENDIX 2 – APPLICATION PLANS 

 

PLOT 1 ‐ ELEVATIONS

 

 

Page 112



PLOTS 2 AND 3 ‐ ELEVATIONS

 

 

PLOT 4 ‐ ELEVATIONS

 

 

Page 113



PLOT 5 ‐ ELEVATIONS

 

CGI IMAGE

 

 

 

Page 114



GROUND FLOOR PLANS AND SITE LAYOUT

 

 

Page 115



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the previous meeting
	9 P18/S4111/FUL & P18/S4112/LB - 1a Cornmarket, Thame, Oxon, OX9 3DX
	Appendices A-C
	GIS Extract
	Elevation Floor Plans Existing drwgno 1
	Elevation Floor Plans Proposed drwgno 2a
	Location and Block Plan drwgno 3
	Emerging Proposals Map
	TTC Primary Shopping Frontage


	10 P19/S0820/FUL - Wallingford Portcullis Social Club (28) & 29 & frontage of Goldsmiths Lane, Wallingford, OX10 0DU
	Appendices 1-2
	Appendix 1. Location plan
	Appendix 2. 1. Block Plan
	Appendix 2. 2 Elevations
	Appendix 2. 3 Elevations
	Appendix 2. 4  Elevations and sections
	Appendix 2. 5 Floor Plan Ground
	Appendix 2. 7 Floor Plan Second
	Appendix 2. 6 Floor Plan First
	Appendix 2. 8 tracking
	Sheets and Views
	6201_A




	11 P19/S0614/RM - 14 Ilges Lane, Cholsey, OX10 9NX
	Appendices 1-2
	OS Extract
	Block Plan Proposed Dwg_K1872 - 02 - 202B
	K1872 - 02 - 202 Proposed Block Plan

	Site Layout & First Floor Plan Proposed Dwg_K1872 - 02 - 205B
	K1872 - 02 - 205 Proposed Site Layout

	Site Layout Overlay Plan Dwg_K1872 - 02 - 206B
	K1872 - 02 - 206 Site Layout



	12 P18/S2231/FUL - South Oxford Business Centre Lower Road, Garsington, OX44 9DP
	Appendices 1-4
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2_1
	Appendix 2_2
	Appendix 2_3
	Appendix 2_4
	Appendix 2_5
	Appendix 2_6
	Appendix 3_1
	Appendix 4_1
	Appendix 4_2


	13 P18/S3750/FUL - Upper Farm Denton, OX44 9JQ
	Appendices 1-2
	1 Location Plan
	2 Block Plan Proposed drwgno PA02 Rev A
	Sheets and Views
	SITE PLAN


	2a Location Plan drwgno PA01 Rev A
	Sheets and Views
	LOCATION


	2b Elevation and Floor Plan Existing drwgno 43777.2
	2c Elevation and Floor Plan Existing drwgno 43777.EX
	2d Floor Plan Ground Proposed drwgno PA03
	2e Floor Plan First Proposed drwgno PA04
	2f Elevation Plan Proposed drwgno PA06
	2h Elevation and Floor Plan Proposed Garage drwgno PA07
	2i Elevation and Section Plan Proposed drwgno PA05


	14 P19/S0171/RM - Land at Woodcote Road, South Stoke, RG8 0JJ
	Appendices 1-2
	Appendix 1 - location plan
	Appendix 2 - Plans and Elevations





